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Friday, May 9, 2014

--- On commencing at 9:50 a.m.

MS. HARE:  Please be seated.

Good morning.  The Board is sitting today to hear three motions filed with respect to the disclosure of information by Ontario Power Generation with respect to the application for new payment amounts for 2014 and 2015.  The application has been given the docket number EB-2013-0321.  The motions have been filed by the School Energy Coalition, the Environmental Defence, and the Association of Major Power Consumers of Ontario.

As per Procedural Order No. 8 we would also like to hear from OPG why certain information is confidential.  This pertains to a number of interrogatories as set out in that procedural order.

We also have a letter from the Power Workers' Union disputing the Board's decision on confidentiality with respect to the analysis of overtime rates and future strategies.

My name is Marika Hare.  I'll be the presiding member.  With me is Christine Long and Alison Duff.

I would like to take appearances first, and then we will propose how we intend to proceed today.  So may I have appearances, please.
Appearances:


MR. SMITH:  Good morning, members of the Board.  My name is Crawford Smith.  I appear as counsel for Ontario Power Generation today and will be throughout the proceeding.  With me is my colleague Alex Smith, also from Torys, Colin Anderson from OPG, and Carlton Mathias from OPG as well.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Good morning.

MR. ELSON:  Good morning, my name is Kent Elson, and I represent Environmental Defence.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  My name is Mark Rubenstein, counsel to the School Energy Coalition.

MS. HARE:  Morning.

MR. CROCKER:  Morning, Madam Chair.  My name is David Crocker, and I represent AMPCO. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Richard Stephenson.  I'm counsel for the Power Workers' Union.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. MILLAR:  Good morning, Panel.  I'm Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff.  With me is Violet Binette.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

In terms of how we proceed today, we thought we would start with hearing from the Power Workers Union on their submission and then have OPG's reply.  Mr. Stephenson, your letter, although short, was quite succinct, so I'm not sure if you have a lot to add or if we go straight to OPG for their comments?

MR. STEPHENSON:  I would like to say a couple things.  And firstly, I just want to thank the Board for the opportunity, but I --


MS. HARE:  Mr. Stephens -- okay.  That's fine.  So we'll figure out -- I'll go through then the order.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  And then I'll give you a chance to say something.

Then we thought we would hear from Schools on the motion on everything except 1.2 AMPCO No. 5, then let OPG reply and have Schools reply.  Then we would hear from AMPCO on 1.2 and Schools and then give OPG a chance to reply, Schools, and AMPCO.  We'd then move to AMPCO motion on 5.1 and give OPG a chance to reply, and then AMPCO an opportunity to reply. 

We would then go into Environmental Defence motion, and that's where we may need to go in camera, so we'll see how that goes.


And that's really why the order of the day -- so we'd be leaving what's in camera to the end, again giving OPG a chance to reply and Environmental Defence reply, and then clarification on OPG rationale for confidential treatment.  And at the end of the day we will have some comments to make on the settlement conference.

MR. CROCKER:  Madam Chair, there was some discussion before the Panel arrived, and it was agreed that we would reverse the order of the second part of what goes on today, and AMPCO would precede.  I think it will go -- precede Schools.  It will be a bit more -- I think it will be a bit quicker.  And then OPG can respond to that -- to us as a group, or a group of two at least, and then Mr. Elson can follow that.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Rubenstein, is that okay with you?

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yes, that would seem to be the most efficient way.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  So that's how we will proceed.  Mr. Smith?

MR. SMITH:  Yes, I agree.  My understanding is that I will hear from Schools and AMPCO in whichever order they decide, but their motion in its entirety, and then I'll respond to them in entirety.

So I won't get two kicks at the can, they won't get two kicks at the can, and then they will reply.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  That's fine.  Okay.  So we'll hear from Mr. Stephenson first.
Submissions by Mr. Stephenson:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning and thank you, Madam Chair.

I do want to thank the Board for accommodating me as they have this morning.  I have given -- I have prepared a compendium which I've given to Board Staff, and I was hoping that I could ask them to pass it up.  There are some documents that are already all part of the record, and it's just for convenience so that you'll have them, and if you need to look at them in relation to this.  Have you got that?

MS. HARE:  Yes, we have that.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.

MS. HARE:  And we should give that an exhibit number.

MR. MILLAR:  AM1.1.

EXHIBIT NO. AM1.1:  COMPENDIUM OF ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE


MR. STEPHENSON:  The issue I'm speaking to is the -- are the Board's orders that were set out in Procedural Orders 7 and 8.  And just for your reference, they are in the compendium at tabs 4 and 6 respectively.

The issue is not whether the document in question is properly designated as confidential.  We don't take any position on that.  The issue is the -- whether or not the PW representatives who have executed the declaration and undertaking are permitted access to those documents.

And just again for your reference, the -- at tab 8 of the compendium are the declarations and undertakings executed by me and by my consultants on this case, Mr. Kidane and Mr. Bertolotti.

I know there was opportunity to speak to this issue previously set out in Procedural Order No. 6.  It's my oversight that we did not weigh in at that time.  My explanation is simply that, frankly, I didn't -- my client was not playing any role in the issue of the confidentiality of any documents.  We're not -- weren't taking any position on it, and frankly, I wasn't paying any attention to the issue.  My view was that I had executed the confidentiality undertaking.  I would see the documents in the ordinary course, just like in the other 25 or 30 occasions I've executed the confidentiality undertaking.  It was no longer my concern.  And so I didn't pay attention, and that is my error, and I take responsibility for that.  But I'm hoping now to redress that.

MS. LONG:  Mr. Stephenson, can I just clarify here?  Are you asking for relief with respect to yourself solely or the consultants as well?

MR. STEPHENSON:  All three.

MS. LONG:  All three?

MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.

MS. LONG:  Thank you.

MS. HARE:  And since we've interrupted you, let me ask the one question that we think is relevant.  Will you or your other two consultants have any role to play in the future negotiations of the contract with PWU and OPG?

MR. STEPHENSON:  No.  No.

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  Needless to say, the consultants do Energy Board work.  They don't have anything to do with the union.  And as you know, the consultants are both from Elenchus.  They're a firm that has a long history at this tribunal.  They're not -- and these are people that have executed these undertakings on many occasions in the past over many years, as I have.

I personally, while I'm counsel to the PWU in a variety of capacities, I don't do -- I don't have any involvement in collective bargaining.  For what it's worth, none of the lawyers have any role in collective bargaining.  It's just, that's just the nature of it.

The issue here is, very simply, that implicit in the Board's ruling is that -- a conclusion that there is a real risk that either me or one of my consultants will breach the undertaking and disclose improperly the material that they have received.  That's the -- that is implicit in the Board's ruling.  The problem, from my perspective, is this.

OPG hasn't said there is some basis for that risk, has not -- didn't offer any explanation, any rationale as to why there is some perceived risk that that would occur any more than would occur in any other circumstance involving anyone else that has ever executed one of these undertakings.

And speaking for myself, this is personal, and the reason it's personal is because this is a reflection upon my personal and professional integrity.  It is saying to me that this tribunal and OPG have concluded that there is a real risk that I will breach my undertaking.

MS. HARE:  Mr. Stephenson, there was no intent of any disrespect in that regard.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And I'm not suggesting that there was an intention to do that.  That is the effect, however. 

MR. SMITH:  I may be able to be of assistance at this point.  Until Mr. Stephenson indicated in direct response to the Chair's question, we did not know that the consultants played no role in bargaining, and indeed it would have been my submission that Mr. Stephenson be permitted access to the material precisely because we don't have any concerns about his integrity at all.  I've had a number of cases with Mr. Stephenson and I know him personally and professionally.  I don't have any concerns and OPG doesn't.


Obviously we have a concern given the relationship and the ongoing collective bargaining, which is a distinctly adversarial one.  But if my friend is indicating on the record, as he is, that the consultants similarly play no role and will play no role, then we don't have the concern that was identified.  So if the material is restricted to those three individuals, that's fine. 

We do have a concern about access to the materials to the PWU, and it doesn't seem like that is going to be a concern. 

MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Just give us a minute.

In that case, we will reverse the decision that was made in the procedural order and allow you, Mr. Stephenson, and your two consultants, to have access to the materials. 

MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I'm much obliged.

MS. HARE:  Thank you.

MR. STEPHENSON:  And thank you to my friend Mr. Smith and OPG this morning.

MS. HARE:  That, then, takes us to the AMPCO submission. 
Submissions by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.

Our position is pretty simple.  In two interrogatories which are at appendix A to the back of the material that we filed, No. 5 and No. 23(d), we asked for information generally, which was -- pertained to a period of time outside the test period.  And as a result of that -- that is, as a result of it being outside the test period -- OPG declined to provide that information.

We think there are two reasons why it should be provided.

One, what's -- the first is what's good for the goose is good for the gander and I'll come back to that.

The second is that we feel it is relevant and has value and is important both for AMPCO to know this and for the Board to have that information, and the way in which it will be responded to by AMPCO in front of it, either during -- when we get to a hearing in this, if we in fact do.

So with respect to the first issue -- that is, good for the goose, good for the gander -- as we've said in paragraph 20 of our material, AMPCO has -- I'm sorry, OPG has provided in its material to you key objectives and strategies for its nuclear and hydroelectric operations for the period 2014 and 2016 as part of its updated business plan.  If they think that's important enough to file, we also think it's important enough to inquire into information with respect to that period -- that is, beyond 2015. 

Secondly, the -- Ontario's Long-Term Energy Plan deals with a period of time outside the test period.  The province is the major shareholder of OPG.  OPG, in that Long-Term Energy Plan, is a significant player and has a significant role to play, and we think that the elements of that are important to put into context, as we've said, the proposed expenditures during the test period. 

We would like to be able to understand how the application, this application from OPG, fits into the government's Long-Term Energy Plan.  Spending in the near term needs to be calibrated with reference to OPG's and the shareholder's plans in the long-term. 

OPG is a big part of the customer's bill, and the interest of the customer, particularly AMPCO's members, are important to AMPCO in terms of this hearing.  And we don't understand how OPG feels that what happens in 2016 or what's proposed to happen in 2016 and beyond is honestly of no relevance to the matters which are specific to the test period which is the subject of the hearing. 

We've stated in the material filed, in the motion filed, at paragraph 16 that the -- we make reference to the Renewed Regulatory Framework.  The reason for that is that it deals with or proposes that a longer-term planning horizon than two years -- that is, the test years -- are of relevance.  OPG is not directly subject to that, and we recognize that, but it's the philosophy of the framework that's important to us, we think here, we submit here, and that is a longer planning framework than just a two-year time period, is what's envisaged.  If it's relevant there, we think it's relevant here.

AMPCO members don't plan in a two-year time frame; nobody plans in a two-year time frame, and knowing what future plans of OPG are will better allow the understanding of what the spending plans are for the two-year period within the test period, we submit.

It's a simple difference in philosophy as to what's relevant.  We think the broader framework is relevant, and for these -- the answer for these two interrogatories is relevant to the Board, and that's why we asked the question and that's why we hope the Board agrees that the answers are relevant and OPG should be required to respond to the interrogatories.

Those are our submissions, subject to any questions you might have. 

MS. HARE:  Mr. Rubenstein, do you have comments on this issue, or is it AMPCO 5 that you have comments on? 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I have comments with respect to AMPCO 5. 

MS. HARE:  Yes, but not this one?  Not 23(d)? 

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Not 23(d), but in fairness, these are the same --


MR. CROCKER:  My submissions related to both of those interrogatories. 

MS. HARE:  All right.  We may have questions then after we hear from Mr. Rubenstein.  And so, sorry, so your submission is the same for AMPCO 5?


MR. CROCKER:  Yes.


MS. HARE:  Same as --


MR. CROCKER:  I didn't mean to isolate those submissions to one, not both --


MS. HARE:  That's fine, that's fine.  Thank you.


So Mr. Rubenstein?


Submissions by Mr. Rubenstein:

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I've provided a compendium of documents.  I'm not sure if this is on the dais.


MS. HARE:  No, I don't think it is.


MR. MILLAR:  It's not, Madam Chair, but we have it here, so it'll be Exhibit KM1.2, and it's the School Energy Compendium.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.2:  SCHOOL ENERGY COMPENDIUM.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  And the compendium includes the disputed IR responses, some relevant documents that we referred to in our notice of motion, an excerpt of the rule, and a previous Board decision that I provided to my friends yesterday.


Since the filing -- I'll just say this.  Since the filing of our notice of motion, OPG has changed its position on a number of interrogatories and has provided the full responses.  So when I get to all my interrogatories, there are now a number of them that do not need to be dealt with today.


I'll first simply deal with AMPCO No. 5.  And I agree with the submissions of my friend Mr. Crocker, and I'll say this:  Context matters to an application.  Understanding the planning framework that OPG does, not just on a short-term, so a one-year planning framework, or even a medium-term, which is the business plan -- OPG's business plan cycles on a three-year framework -- but also their longer-term in the ten-year framework, which is what AMPCO 5 is getting at, is important.  And the reason for that is it allows us to look at the reasonableness of the test-period interrogatories.


Clearly future projections of expenditures are for all -- you know, farther out into the future you get, the more unreliable they are, but they do provide you with context, context such as pacing.  It's the pacing of the capital plan, the capital -- the significant hydroelectric and nuclear capital spending appropriate, those sorts of things, as well as operating capital expenditures, as we've mentioned in our notice.  Especially important as it relates to hydroelectric, insofar as this case is essentially supposed to be for the hydroelectric facilities, supposed to be essentially the rebasing case for it as sort of the current framework set out in the Board's policies to move to an incentive regulation afterwards.


So simply -- much like, as my friend referenced, a renewed regulatory framework, much like in that framework the Board talks about pacing and in the new distribution systems plan it asks for sort of projections of capital spending into the future outside of the test year, we would say that similar information is before.


And in other proceedings this sort of information has been regularly provided, ten-year capital projections or those sorts of things, and that's what we think AMPCO 5 gets at and that's why we think that's relevant.


Moving to the other interrogatories, the first one I want to deal with is Interrogatory 5.8 SEC 160, which is also 1.2 CCC 5.  This is at pages 2 and 3 of our compendium.


And in that we sought disclosure of a document referenced in the OPG's response to the auditor general's report, and this was a document that OPG had relied on.  A Ministry of Energy was -- engaged a consulting firm to assess OPG's existing benchmarking studies and to identify organizational structure opportunities for savings.


We asked for this reference report, and CCC 5 on the next page, they ask for the same report.  This is the KPMG efficiency review report, and OPG's simply refused to provide it on the basis that it does not own that document.


SEC submits it's not a valid reason for non-disclosure.  They are in possession of this document, as was confirmed at the technical conference, and it's clearly relevant.


If I can take the Board on page number 5 of our compendium.  This is with respect to -- this is an excerpt from the auditor general's report, page 162.  And on the sidebarred portion, OPG -- it states:

"OPG has conducted extensive benchmarking of its nuclear and other operations.  Based on this benchmarking we are executing several initiatives that are designed to address opportunities for efficiencies, cost reductions, and staff imbalances and nuclear operations."


And then it quotes from:

"In 2012 the Ministry of Energy engaged a consulting firm to assess OPG's existing benchmarking studies and to identify organizational structural opportunities for cost savings.  This report validates OPG's business transformation initiatives and its objectives.  We will continue to identify and implement other initiatives."


Clearly the auditor general report is relevant to this proceeding, and I would say OPG is using this -- is relying on the report itself in response to the auditor general's recommendations.


And on page 6 of our compendium, this is from OPG's own evidence, and OPG is not only on -- relying.  It quotes directly from that report, and at line 25 -- I won't read it, but from line 25 to line 31, essentially OPG is relying on that report to bolster, you know, its business transformation initiative, which is a major component of its application.


If I just take the Board back to our compendium, to page 4, these are from the Board's rules.  Rule 26.02(d) states:

"An interrogatory shall contain specific requests for clarification of a party's evidence, documents or other information in possession of a party and relevant to the proceeding."


Doesn't say anything about ownership of that document.  They're clearly in possession of this document.  It is relevant and it should be produced.


And my friends have cited no authority otherwise.  They have just simply said they don't own the document, they've asked for permission, and it's pending.  This information should be provided to this Board.


With respect to 3.1 SEC 25, we've included a copy of this on page 7 of our -- of the compendium.  We sought information related to these expected planned and forecasted debt/equity ratio for 2014-2018.  OPG has only provided us information on its regulated debt equity.


I think it is important to recognize that the capital structure and the rate of return for the regulated facilities will clearly be at issue in this proceeding, as OPG will be now regulating a significant amount of new, formerly unregulated hydroelectric facilities.


And in OPG's response in its motion, written submissions, it said that it doesn't provide any internal analysis on the issue with respect to its regulated facilities, but that it retained Foster Associates to do an analysis and provide a response to the IR.


Again, SEC is not seeking information regarding only OPG's regulated debt/equity ratio, but its actual debt/equity ratio.


It's in our view that the actual planned changes are important to understanding how OPG actually sees the risk of its new regulated facilities.  One way it's relying on the report by Foster Associates for the purposes of saying that it doesn't need to change the current 53-43 split that's been approved in the past.  And the report provides its rationale.


But one way to sort of test the reasonableness of the report to see what is actually OPG actually planning to do with respect to its actual debt/equity ratio, and that's the information that we're seeking.


Now, ultimately OPG may not have that information as well, but it should still then provide that it doesn't have that information and not sort of rely that, you know, it's only seeking -- only is relevant is the regulated portion.  We wouldn't agree with that.


I wanted to deal with another interrogatory.  This is CME 1.1.  And these are category of interrogatories between OPG -- information between OPG and its Board and its shareholder.


CME No. 1 provided on page 8, CME in this interrogatory was seeking to be provided with OPG's Board -- with information provided to OPG's Board and comments and directions provided back to it regarding the 2013 auditor general's report.


And OPG refused to provide that on the basis that the AG's report was issued after the application was filed and after the impact statement, I believe, is also filed.  And thus there is no link between the two and it's not relevant.


In its written submissions OPG says that, you know, this application is not a valuation or it's not to -- it's not -- I'm paraphrasing -- it's not for the purposes of an enquiry or an evaluation with respect to the auditor general's report.  This is submissions at -- it's paragraph 29.


But I would say this.  The AG's report makes significant findings with respect to -- and not just findings, but comments and recommendations with respect to various -- the HR costs, compensation, benefits, staffing, and otherwise.  It has made very serious comments with respect to the reasonableness of that, and the Board should take that into account and parties should be able to explore that and explore how OPG is dealing with that report and things that it's doing because of that.


Clearly the HR costs are at issue in this proceeding.  They're clearly a cost with respect to the test year budgets, as these costs have been at issue in previous proceedings.  And the Board in those decisions have also made serious comments toward OPG's reasonableness of its applied-for numbers.


How OPG is responding to the AG's report will have an effect on the test year budgets.  While OPG states -- and I'm not going to disagree that the report was released afterwards, that only furthers reason that the Board understand what material OPG has provided to its board and what direction it has provided back to it.


OPG simply can't say:  Well, because we've not –- if it came out afterwards, that's not relevant.  That's clearly not the case.  This information is clearly important.  The Board may have provided it with -- and OPG may have provided the Board with relevant information about how -- what it can do and what it should do.  Maybe some of those costs or some of those changes will be outside of the test year, test period, and may be needed to be brought into the test year for the purposes of determining the reasonable payment amounts, but they are relevant.


In their submissions, OPG has stated, well, they provided -- they provided a response with respect to sort of what actions that they are taking, and they provide in response -- the only document they provide in response -- this is on page 9 through 12 -- is essentially a key -- which is the key actions document.  And this clearly is relevant information, but it doesn't go farther than it needs to be.


OPG also stated that undertakings were provided at the technical conference, and undertakings were provided but they were only with respect to information and actions OPG has decided to take, and not necessarily actions that it should take or that it has provided to its board that it could take, or that it's reasonable to take outside of the test year.  All those issues are within the 2014 and to 2016 period, but not further out.  They may need to be sped up for the purpose of determining the reasonable payments.


And I note this.  OPG is very selective about which board of director information it will put on the record.  And we provide an example at 1.2.SEC5, and this is at page 13.


And in this, we asked for the original plan setting out their business transformation initiative, including the resulting sub-plans.  And the last three reports to the board of directors are the result of the business transformation initiative.  And OPG provided in attachment 1 the business transformation plan submitted to its board of directors and the last three quarterly reports to its board of directors.


OPG is proud of its business transformation initiative, so it's willing to provide the information parties are seeking, but maybe in areas where it's not as proud it chooses not to provide this information.


It can't be selective.  I see no reason why that information should be provided but this information -- that the information we're seeking in this IR would not be provided.


And I note in other parts of the application when it comes to the Niagara Tunnel project, the business plans, Darlington refurbishment, they provided various information, sometimes on a confidential basis provided the information with respect to the information that they're providing to their board of directors.


We would say the information is clearly relevant.  It is probative.  And OPG has essentially provided no reason why there would be any prejudicial effect in providing that information.


With respect to 1.4.SEC.20 -- this is located at 27 of our materials -- SEC sought disclosure of information provided to OPG's board of directors in approving this application and OPG objected, citing the decision that was brought on a motion in the last payment amount proceeding in EB-2010-0008.  In that decision on a somewhat similar request, the Board rejected the motion on the basis of relevance.  OPG has also, as it did in that previous case, object on the basis of litigation privilege.  Ultimately in that case, the Board never -- didn't deal with the issue of litigation privilege.


With respect to the issue of litigation privilege, which was discussed at that hearing and not dealt with, we don't think the Board needs to make ruling with respect to that in this proceeding to grant our motion.


First, I note that while my friends have provided information with respect to litigation privilege in that proceeding -- and I think they have more cases in this proceeding, as I saw Mr. Smith provide.  I note that the Board has -- in the CANDAS proceeding -- and we provided that on page 38 -- dealing with the issue of:  Is litigation for the purpose -- is the Board proceedings for the purposes of -- is it litigation, for the purposes of litigation privilege, the Board had said in that proceeding -- and it says on page 54 at the top that the Board does not agree that the current proceeding is to be considered litigation for the purposes of litigation privilege.


This is an administrative proceeding.  Litigation privilege doesn't have the adversarial nature of those sorts of proceedings, but again, I don't think we need to rehash that discussion.  And I say that because when we set out in our Notice of Motion, SEC is not seeking the information that would be provided to the board of directors in approving this application. 


That goes to the heart of what litigation privilege is supposed to protect.  We're not seeking information on hearing strategies.  We're not seeking information on risks that the Board risks or opposed intervenor positions and potential responses.  We're not seeking that sort of information and we would have no problem with that information being redacted.


What information is important and would be contained in that is the approval of the payment amounts.  This application seeks to determine just and reasonable payment amounts, and the Board can and should look at it in multiple, different ways.


One of those ways is clearly to look at the various costs and the revenues to determine the reasonableness of each of those different aspects, but then the Board should not look at that in isolation.  They should also consider the reasonableness of the increase in the payment amounts.


And I would say that the Board has recognized this.  issue 1.4 on the Board's issues List, which is what this interrogatory was asked under, asks:
"Is the overall increase in 2014 and 2015 revenue requirement reasonable given the overall bill impact on customers?"


This requires a look at the overall increase in payment amounts.  And the only time where the issue of payment amounts is being approved by the board of directors, the decision -- you know, the senior decision-making body of OPG, is when it approves this application.  Information like this has been provided in other proceedings.  We think this information would benefit the Board and would benefit other parties.  You may look at the trade-off to consider between cost control and overall price increases.


As the Board has discussed previously in the RRFE context -- which I recognize is not necessarily totally analogous in this situation, obviously -– you know, what is the value ratepayers are getting for the increase in price.  We would say this would be something that may be contained in that information.


I would say that this -- looking at just sort of dealing with the issue of relevance between what was decided in the last case, I think it's important to recognize that increase in payment amounts is significantly more, is significantly larger in this proceeding.


In the last proceeding OPG sought an increase of, I believe, 6.2 percent.  And in this case, depending on which way and how you do the math and what you include or not include, it's anywhere from low 20 percent increases up to 30 percent increases.  That's a very significant increase, and the issue of the overall payment amounts and what was provided to the decision-maker, we think is very important.


With respect to 2.1.SEC.4, a copy of this is provided at page 62 of our materials.  And pursuant to section 81 of OPG's memorandum with the shareholder, the province, which we've extracted at page 63 so you can see the full section there:
"OPG is to provide timely reports and information on major developments and issues that materially affect the shareholder and vice versa, that the shareholder thinks would affect OPG.


And we've sought the last five of these timely reports and information provided to OPG from its shareholder and provided to it -- shareholder from OPG, and OPG declined to provide it on the basis of relevance, and stating that if any of those issues affect the application they're discussed within.  Those refusals were maintained at the technical conference.


We would say that this information is relevant and probative.  OPG's spending response, not just to formal shareholder directives which are on the public record, but through other formalized communications made pursuant to the memorandum of understanding.


The failure of OPG to include material in its application should not be determinative of whether they should be addressed in this application, ultimately.  OPG has a wide latitude in deciding what it does and does not include, and parties have a right to see the underlying basis and to test that evidence.


Interrogatories are not simply for the purposes of sort of seeking more information, which -- but sort of ingrained in that is also to test that evidence, test the reasonableness of that, and we think that this information, it's important.


In its written submissions OPG relied on similar arguments that it made with respect to the information that was just discussed in the previous interrogatory.  But I -- but we would say that this information is relevant and should be scrutinized by the Board.  It's probative, and OPG again has not shown any reason why this would be -- there would be any prejudicial effect of providing this sort of information.  We say this information should be produced.


Unless there are any questions, those are my submissions.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein, I did have a question.  I want to understand your position better with respect to the information that this Board needs to make a decision with respect to material provided to OPG's board of directors.  I think I'm having trouble understanding.  Can we not take comfort from the fact that this application has been reviewed by OPG's board of directors, that I'm assuming that information given to them fully sets out what the application is about, and that authorization was given to put this application before us.


What is it exactly that you are looking for to assist the Board in making our determination that is incumbent upon us getting that information from OPG with respect to what went to the board of directors?  Can you help me out on that?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Sure, I'll separate them into sort of two sets.  With respect to issues such as the response to the auditor general's report, I would say that information with how OPG -- the options that it provided to its board of directors of different ways that it could address the issue is -- I would say is relevant to allowing to test the reasonableness of what OPG ultimately did provide.


And I would just say, as we -- in -- and in another way, the information has always been very sort of helpful.  This is why OPG provides the board of directors with respect to, you know, the three-year budgets that it's provided, as well as to Niagara Tunnel project, because they provide -- you know, it's a concise, and it's a very good way to show, because it's ultimately seeking approval of some sort of decision.  It provides various options that it could do with respect to -- and I don't have the information in the materials, but with respect to different recommendations, I believe with respect to cancelling the Niagara Tunnel project, one of the questions, but what are the different options.  Should it be done because of the overrun or not.  And different options were provided, and they were set out in that.


But with respect to SEC 5, which we provided, as you can see, clearly that information shows -- outlines a comprehensive plan of action with respect to the business transformation project.  We would say the same thing with respect to the reaction and what OPG's response is to the auditor general's report.


With respect to the other two interrogatories, it's the opportunity where the Board is -- has to make a decision provided the information with respect to the ultimate payment amounts that are going to be approved.


And information with respect to sort of the -- which I would say costs, and those are provided, you know, the budgets and those sorts of things which the Board approves, but ultimately it approves the payment amounts, and I think the Board has taken in the past with respect to, at least in the electricity distributor context.

It's not necessarily ultimately just the costs that you need to look at.  It's sort of at the granular level and at the low level, but also, you know, from a top-down approach, you know, the rates in those cases or the payment amounts in those cases are reasonable, and this information provides a context of what the OPG was reviewing at that time, what it -- what type of information did OPG's management provide to its board of directors to make that sort of decision.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MR. MILLAR:  Madam Chair, I'm sorry to interrupt.  It's Michael Millar here.


Mr. Rubenstein, I thought in your notice of motion you had SEC 118 as well, and I don't know if that has been dropped or if it got left off the list somehow.  Oh, it's been answered.  Okay.  My apologies.  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  I just want to give you one more opportunity to answer, actually, Board Member Long's question.  I don't understand why you need to have the board of director materials, as opposed to just having confirmation from OPG that the application was approved by their board of directors.  Why do you need to see the materials that they gave them, as opposed to just seeing the application before us?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  To be clear, no one is disputing that the Board approved the application.  The information that they would be -- or we would say is likely to be provided or we would say should have been provided, if the Board grants our relief, we could see this, is not just necessarily the information or the budgets that were provided to it, but it's sort of at the -- at a level above that, at the payment amounts.  Was it providing information to OPG with respect to the change in payment amounts over previous years that it had sought?  Was that -- was it seeking to show them that different payment amount levels would provide a different result?  Those sorts of different things, because at the cost level there are different -- they're provided budgets on three-year plans that are provided to the board of directors.  We see that numerous parts of the application that have been provided.  And in those they provide sort of very detailed budgets.  This allows a chance to look at it from the other direction, what information was provided at the payment amounts.


So I've said with respect to the issue about litigation privilege which cover from that, we're not seeking that information.  It's only getting a sense of how the board of directors is approving the other side of it, the payment amounts.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  Thank you.


MS. LONG:  Mr. Rubenstein, I'm going to take you and Mr. Crocker back to, I guess it's AMPCO Interrogatory 5, and it's the general concept that both of you have discussed with respect to pacing and needing information beyond the test year.


What is it about, let's say information that OPG provides with respect to 2018 or 2019 that helps us make our decision with respect to costs in 2014 and 2015, the test year?  I would like to understand the linkage there.  Are you saying that we can look at 2018 and 2019 and decide that in 2014 and 2015 costs are too high or too low?  Is that the linkage that you're trying to make?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The Board could make that decision, and I would say, provide this example.  It shows that over -- in a ten-year plan costs significantly decrease.  The capital expenditures, as an example, for hydroelectric facilities decrease from year 2016 onwards.


It shows that maybe that they should pace their capital expenditure program differently.  Ultimately that on -- alone wouldn't be enough.  I would agree with -- but it provides context and -- to show the reasonableness of the expenditures that they're providing.


As well it sort of -- it shows the overall plan and how they plan within not just sort of the short- and medium-term, but how they determine that what's reasonable with respect to their capital expenditures in the test period in the context of a larger plan, what is the larger plan they have for refurbishment or, you know, of various parts of some of their hydroelectric facilities or nuclear facilities to a lesser extent.


MS. LONG:  You do recognize, though, of course, that this plan can change.  I mean, things are very fluid, and what may be projected to happen in 2018 or 2019 could change tomorrow.


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  I totally would agree that as you move out the forecasts, the farther you move out, clearly the forecasts become less accurate.  But I think it's one piece in sort of a larger puzzle that I think the Board and intervenors would have benefit from seeing.


MS. LONG:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Crocker, do you --


MR. CROCKER:  If I could just put that in another way, because our positions don't differ.  When you know what's planned beyond the test period, I think it's -- or we submit it's easier to understand whether what is planned within that test period makes sense.  Is there a progression, is there a broader plan which makes what's planned within the test period make sense.  And that's sort of what we are looking for, the longer horizon to provide.


MS. LONG:  Thank you. 


MS. HARE:  Mr. Smith, I invite you to respond. 


MR. SMITH:  I think I will take you up on the invitation.


[Laughter]
Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  There are, just so it's on the record, a number of interrogatories, as my friend indicated, which are not at issue.  Those are SEC 118 and SEC 84.  And then there are questions -- there may be one or more questions as we go through where, in my submission, the parties are missing each other and we have either -- we have answered the question.


So let me take the questions in the order in which my friend raised them, which is not quite the order in which they're set out in my factum.  So let's start with AMPCO 5 and AMPCO 23(d), and these are set out in our factum beginning at page -- or paragraph 5 through to paragraph 15 of our factum.


And in broad terms, what I would say in response to those is that the information that is being sought is irrelevant to the determination of amounts for the 2014 and 2015 test period.  I would also say that the question is incredibly broad, and it is not as narrow as my friends have articulated to you.  And I do think it's worth pulling it up, particularly AMPCO 5.


So if you have the AMPCO motion record, AMCPO 5 asked:

"Please discuss OPG's longer-term 10-year business plan outlook, including emerging issues and proposed spending levels beyond 2016, and include any supporting materials such as memorandums, reports and presentations to OPG's board of directors that address this issue."


So in my submission, it's not simply:  Produce the plan.  It's:  Produce a whole range of information that may bear on a 10-year period.


And as we say in our factum, the scope of relevance in this proceeding is the reasonableness of payment amounts in 2014-2015.  That is the relevant test period.  Now, let me pause there and address the first of Mr. Crocker's submissions, which is sauce for the good being sauce for the gander.


It is quite correct that OPG produced a 2014 to 2016 business plan.  I suppose taking a technical position, OPG should have redacted its 2016 information, but in my submission, that would have been of no help to anybody.  And in general terms, I think it's fair to say that the Board prefers fewer rather than more redactions, for very obvious reasons.  But it was not to suggest that 2016 information was relevant to the setting of test period amounts for 2014-2015.


Now, as to the other bases for the request, let's take those in turn.


The first is the LTEP.  The role of this Board is not, with respect, to second-guess the LTEP or the choices that are reflected in the LTEP.  And indeed, this Board dealt with that issue in Procedural Order No. 3, where it indicated at pages 10 and 13 of that procedural order that its role was to set payment amounts and was not to question the generation mix.


So to the extent my friends rely on the LTEP, I say that's no bases at all.


The second basis suggested is the Renewed Regulatory Framework for electricity distributors.  A couple of comments with respect to that.


First, on its face it doesn't apply to OPG.


But second, it's being misunderstood at least in this way.  Mr. Crocker says the RRFE contemplates information beyond a two-year test period.  That's correct.  That's because the incentive framework contemplated in the RRFE is a five-year incentive framework and utilities are required to produce some information over the five-year period.  In other words, all the RRFE is saying is:  Produce information for the period over which you're asking the Board to set rates.


And OPG has done that.  OPG is asking for rates to be set for 2014 and 2015, and it has provided information over that same period.  So in my submission, the RRFE has no applicability at all.


Third, the generalized notion about pacing, and in my submission this is perhaps the most frustrating of the submissions to respond to because it is so vague.


There is no satisfactory response that was provided to the Board's questions about the relevance of that information.  It is a generalized, unparticularized submission that information, more information about the future, will help you decide about payment amounts in 2014 and 2015.


There is not a single capital expenditure that is identified today by my friends or in their written materials that they are questioning and that they say they require further information about.  And there is not a single OM&A expenditure that is identified in their materials about which they say they require further information in order to make whatever submission they're going to make.


Balanced against that is what, in my submission, is a request for information that, on its face, is of almost no probative value.  As the Board obviously recognizes, information about 2018 could change tomorrow.  It could change six months from now.  I don't know.  But it is inherently unreliable.  And in my submission, to fix rates during the test period on information of that questionable value would be an error.


Those are my submissions with respect to AMPCO.


I should also say with respect to capital spending, of course OPG is seeking approval to close to rate base certain items, but it is not seeking approval of its capital budget per se.  And while we're on that topic, of course, if we were in an IRM framework then I may be taking a different position, where the Board may be more concerned about levelized spending or levelized OM&A, but this is not an IRM framework at all.


There will or there may be an IRM framework with respect to hydroelectric at some point in the future, and the Board's report contemplates that that may happen.  And there were interrogatories asked about that and those have been answered.


This brings me to CCC 5, the KPMG efficiency review, and I don't intend to make any submissions in respect of that beyond what's set out in our factum.  And that's at paragraph 19 and I can just move beyond that.


That takes us to CME 1, and that interrogatory is dealt with –-


MS. HARE:  I'm sorry, can I just take you back to CCC 5?


So in your factum, it's consistent with your original answer, which is that you're seeking approval from the Ministry of Energy.  Do you have any idea as to when you're going to get a response?


Or let me ask a different thing.  Can you shed any light as to why they're not saying you can -- you can disclose it? 


MR. SMITH:  I think all I can fairly say is that OPG has been actively seeking disclosure of the document and that sometimes things at the Ministry don't move at the pace with which we would like them to move.  And we are pushing it forward.  I'm hesitant to say one way or the other, because it's entirely possible that we'll have a false start and I will be proven to be wrong, and that has happened, and so while every fibre in my being wants to make a positive statement as to when we'll know, I just feel like I'm not in a position to say that.  We want to produce the document, but we're just -- haven't been given that authorization.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


MR. SMITH:  That brings me to CME -- I believe it's CME 1, and that can be found in our factum beginning at page -- or paragraph 28, page 7 of our factum.  And in my submission, this is an example of the parties entirely missing one another, at least in substance.


The interrogatory is worth looking at, and it can be found in my friend's compendium, or in his notice of motion, I suppose the better place to look at it.  It's behind tab A.


Let me put it this way.  This is not -- this proceeding is not an inquiry into the auditor general's report per se.  And what I mean by that is it's not an inquiry to determine whether OPG felt good, bad, or otherwise about the content of the auditor general's report.  So that exercise in navel-gazing per se, in my submission, is not relevant, and that's why the question and the answer read the way they do.


It is, of course, also a matter of timing.  The auditor general's report came out after the application, and for that reason it's obviously not discussed in the application.


That is not to say, however, that an appropriate line of inquiry isn't, to the extent the auditor general raises issues in relation to amounts that would be included in the forecast test period, what are you doing about that?  That, in my submission, is an entirely appropriate line of inquiry, and for that reason we did not object, produced what OPG is doing about matters that are addressed in the auditor general's report that go to test period -- principally test period OM&A expenses.  I don't disagree.  Compensation will be an issue.  No surprise to anybody.  Pension may be an issue.  No surprise to anybody.


An appropriate line of inquiry could be:  The auditor general identifies pension costs.  What are you doing about pension costs?  I agree.  Indeed, all of CME's questions at the technical conference were directed to that very issue.  All of the questions were answered.  And we have answered the question in that way.


Generalized question about, what is your reaction, as it were, to the auditor general's report, in my submission, is not relevant, but I agree entirely, and we've endeavoured to answer specific questions about matters which are in fact in dispute during the test period.


And I don't agree with my friend that it is limited to the one document that is referred to in that question, because anything OPG is doing in relation to pension during the test period is relevant and is being -- has been sought and is being produced.


This then brings me to, I believe, SEC 25.  I may have taken that one slightly out of order.  This is dealt with in our factum at page 9, paragraphs 36 through to 38, and in that interrogatory what my friend asks for -- let me just pull it up -- is all studies, analyses, forecasts, presentation, or other documents relating in whole or in part to the applicant's expected plan or forecast debt-to-equity ratio over the period 2014 to 2018.


Now, as the Board will be aware, the basis upon which rates or payment amounts are set is based on a deemed equity or deemed capital structure, which in turn is a function of business risk.


OPG did not, on the regulation of or the amendment to Regulation 53/05, conduct any internal analysis of the effect of including the previously unregulated hydroelectric facilities as newly regulated hydroelectric facilities on its capital structure.  In other words, it didn't engage in any internal analysis of the business risk associated with those facilities as it relates to its deemed capital structure.


In my submission, that is the relevant line of inquiry.  What OPG did do, however, was it retained Foster Associates and Ms. McShane, who the Board will be familiar with, and who testified on this very issue in the last proceeding, testified on the appropriate capital structure for OPG.


In that proceeding there was a question as to whether or not OPG should have separate capital structures for its hydroelectric and nuclear business.  The Board said no.  It would be obviously a fair question to inquire, having regard to the newly regulated hydroelectric facilities, does that continue to be the view, and has your business risk changed overall as a result of the regulation.  That's Ms. McShane's report.  It's been produced, and it may be that we need to call Ms. McShane as a witness if this continues and is a contested matter at the oral hearing.


But that information has been produced, and that is the only analysis on that question.  In my submission, internal analysis on the change in business risk -- sorry, internal analysis of OPG's actual capital structure as a result of the change in the regulation is not at all relevant to the setting of payment amounts, and I have not heard a rationale for why it would be from my friend.


This then brings me to SEC 20 -- sorry, SEC 20 and SEC 4.  And those are the requests for, first, SEC 20 is the request for the material that went to OPG's board of directors.  This is dealt with -- SEC 20 is dealt with in our factum at paragraph 22 through to 27.


And let me say this.  In my submission, despite being given two opportunities to explain why the approval sought from the board of directors is relevant, my friend is unable to articulate a cogent reason for its relevance.


This issue was dealt with four square by the Board in the 008 proceeding.  The very same memorandum was requested, that being the memorandum from management asking for approval from OPG's board to launch this application, and we have set out in relevant part the Board's conclusion at paragraph 26.  As the Board says there:

"In the Board's view, these materials are not relevant to the determination of the issues before the Board in this proceeding.  The Board will make its decision on the application and supporting materials filed by the applicant and the evidence of intervenors, all of which is subject to cross-examination."


And then it goes on to say:


"The material which has been sought through the motion includes the communication between OPG's management and its board of directors seeking approval to file the application, delegated authority to deal with the proceeding, and the analysis of likely prospects for success."


This material does not form part of the application and does not enhance nor detract from the merits of the application.  And in my submission, there is no basis whatsoever for a different result here, and it does not matter that my friend says:  I'm not interested in the last part, which is likely prospects of success.


There is no question that this application has been authorized by the board of directors.  It would come as some surprise to them, I'm sure, given the media coverage if it had not been, but I am here with authority from the company.  So in my submission, there is no basis for a different result, and none of that detracts from my friends' ability to ask questions about the payment amounts as reflected in -- I can't remember if it's issue 1.1 or 1.2.


Now, I should say -- because it's raised in my factum and the materials are there -- I do not agree with my friends on the issue of litigation privilege, and I do not agree that the issue of litigation privilege does not arise simply because my friend is not seeking an analysis of the likely prospects of success.


The scope of litigation privilege is broader than that.  It covers documents prepared for the dominant purpose of litigation.  And in my submission, the very authorization to commence a proceeding must fit that definition.  It is the document launching a proceeding.  The litigation is in contemplation at that time.


We have provided you -- and I think there were -- putting on the record, we have provided you with the Blank -- an excerpt of the Blank case, which is the leading case from the Supreme Court of Canada, an extract at -- I believe it's tab -- Exhibit C of our factum, and you ought to have the entire copy.


My friend also provided the CANDAS case.  I won't spend much time on it, but I will refer to it briefly and I'll also refer to two authorities referred to briefly in the CANDAS case, because in my submission, CANDAS would not apply; to the extent it's correct, it would be limited to that proceeding and it would not apply to proceedings of this type.  And I'll briefly explain why, in my submission.


So if you have, just quickly, the Blank case, I'll just refer to it.  This is the leading case --


MS. HARE:  Sorry, Mr. Smith, can you just wait a minute?


MR. SMITH:  yes.  Absolutely.  Absolutely.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Millar, what did you just hand us?


MR. SMITH:  You should have, Members of the Panel, one, two, three -- you should have at least three cases, which is the Minister of Justice and Sheldon Blank -- it's a decision of the Supreme Court of Canada from 2006 --


MR. MILLAR:  I provided copies of four cases.  I think three of them have excerpts of them in the materials already but these are the full copies, and I believe the four case, Northwestern Utilities, has not been provided yet or was not part of the original materials.


Is that right, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  That's correct.


MS. HARE:  Do we need to give exhibit numbers?


MR. MILLAR:  Why don't we?  Especially since there's a new one.


So the Minister of Justice and Blank will be KM1.3.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.3:  MINISTER OF JUSTICE AND BLANK CASE.


MR. MILLAR:  And I'll go through them in the order I have them.


Miller Rentals and Caterpillar Tractor will be KM1.4.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.4:  MILLER RENTALS AND CATERPILLAR TRACTOR CASE.


MR. MILLAR:  And then College of Physicians and BC Privacy Commissioner, KM1.5.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.5:  COLLEGE OF PHYSICIANS AND BC PRIVACY COMMISSIONER CASE.


MR. MILLAR:  And finally, the Northwestern Utilities and Edmonton case, KM1.6.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.6:  NORTHWESTERN UTILITIES AND EDMONTON CASE.


MR. SMITH:  So let me just start with the Blank case and take you to a couple portions of that case.


This is the leading case, as I say, from the Supreme Court of Canada on litigation privilege.  It concerned a Mr. Sheldon Blank, who had been the subject of certain charges by the Crown, which were ultimately dropped.  Mr. Blank then brought a subsequent civil proceeding, and the issue arose as to the production of documents which had been generated and which were in the Crown's possession.


You'll see, beginning at paragraph 27 of that decision, the court discusses the object of litigation privilege, and what the court says there -- halfway through paragraph 27, which is on page 330 -- what the court says there is that:

"The object of litigation privilege is to ensure the efficacy of the adversarial process and not, like solicitor-client privilege, to promote the solicitor-client relationship."


It goes on to say:

"To achieve this purpose, parties to litigation must be left to prepare their contending positions in private."


The court then goes on to cite now-Mr. Justice Sharpe of the Court of Appeal at paragraph 29, where he indicates that:

"Litigation privilege is based upon the need for a protected area to facilitate investigation and preparation of a case for trial or hear an administrative proceeding by the adversarial advocate.  In other words, litigation privilege aims to facilitate a process, while solicitor-client privilege aims to protect a relationship."


And as the court says in paragraph 34 –- and you need not turn it up -- the purpose is to create a zone of privacy where litigants are free to prepare their case in what the court calls a zone of privacy in relation to pending or apprehended litigation.


And the court says specifically at paragraph 31:

"Though conceptually distinct, litigation privilege and legal privilege..."


That's solicitor-client privilege:

"... serve a common cause, the secure and effective administration of justice according to law."


And that's at paragraph 31, as I say.


Now, this is an administrative proceeding. Nevertheless, there are many cases in which the tribunals have determined and courts on appeal have determined that litigation privilege applies to administrative tribunals.


It is a proceeding under section 78.1 of the Ontario Energy Board Act, and as the Board will be well aware, the purpose of such a proceeding in which the applicant bears the onus is to fix just and reasonable rates.


Now, I provided the Northwestern Utilities case, but you need not turn it up.  It's simply for this proposition:  What are just and reasonable rates?  It's been well established for over 90 years that just and reasonable rates are rates which, on the one hand, are fair to consumers, and which, on the other hand, provide for a fair return on invested capital to the utility.


In that sense, this proceeding is distinctly adversarial.  And in my submission, it does not matter nor detract from that that the Board exercises a public interest mandate; there are many tribunals that exercise a public interest mandate, but in the rate-setting function, which is this case is about and which CANDAS was not about, there is engaged in a competing interest directly where the utility's interests and the consumers' interest, on the other hand, are directly divergent.


And how does that play out here?  It plays out, in my submission, in what are the hallmarks of the adversarial process.  And a review of the cases tells you that the hallmark of the adversarial process is the ability to compel from the other side information it does not want to disclose and to conduct cross-examination in respect of that.


And we don't have a better example of that than today, where we're actually fighting about compelling production in the form of motions on interrogatories.  The Board has all of the infrastructure, if I can put it that way, of an adversarial process.  There are parties; there is an applicant.  The applicant bears the burden of proof.  There is a requirement to, in effect, the trump in the form of written evidence by the applicant, and a full ability to test that by parties opposite through interrogatories, motions on those interrogatories if appropriate, and cross-examination, all of which are features of an adversarial proceeding.


In my submission, to effectively prepare for proceedings like that, applicants and intervenors are entitled to a zone of privacy in which to frame their case.  For an applicant, preparing the case includes making decisions about how the application will be framed, should it be a cost-of-service proceeding, should it be an IRM?  Should it be a one-year proceeding, should it be a two-year proceeding?  Which evidence do we want to lead?  All of which are matters relevant, but also protected by a zone of privacy, in my submission, and I agree with my friend Mr. Crocker on this point.  This is an area where sauce for the goose is sauce for the gander, because it is quite right that intervenors would be entitled to the very same protections.  They will think about whether they should call evidence together, alone, what issues that evidence should address, how cross-examinations will be structured, which witnesses will be cross-examined by which intervenors, and so on.


And in my submission, we have no more entitlement to that information than my friends have to information that we similarly cook up in preparing our own application.  Obviously I don't mean "cook up" in a pejorative way.  

[Laughter]


MS. LONG:  Mr. Smith, how do we exercise the dominant-purpose test?  You've taken us through that, and if we look at a memorandum that's gone to your board of directors explaining the application that's come before us, is the dominant purpose of that in contemplation of litigation?


MR. SMITH:  Yes, because in my submission the only purpose for that memorandum is to seek approval to launch the application.  In other words, it is no different than in a court proceeding, the decision by the board of directors to issue a statement of claim.


So there may be other communications to the Board, for example, a decision to approve the Darlington refurb expenditures for the test period.  I don't object that materials like that that go to the board of directors may otherwise be relevant and wouldn't be subject to litigation privilege.  But this is different, because this is the actual go/no go on a contested proceeding, and in that respect, in my submission, that is the difference.


Litigation privilege isn't like solicitor-client privilege, in which you would say any communication for the purpose of receiving legal advice is privileged and continues forever.  Litigation privilege is different.  It lasts only for the purpose -- or the length of the proceeding.  That was the very issue that was really contested before the Supreme Court of Canada in Blank and also contested in the Ed Miller case, which I'll just refer to briefly in a minute.


Solicitor-client privilege lasts forever, and it's different in that way.  Litigation privilege is narrower, and it applies only in respect of documents created for the dominant purpose of apprehending or ongoing litigation and lasts only as long as that litigation or related litigation survives.


In my submission, if litigation privilege were not to apply, one of the underlying rationales for that privilege would be defeated.  It would, in destroying the zone of privacy, discourage communications that facilitate the orderly framing of applications and efficient proceedings and facilitate the production of irrelevant information which will further undermine the efficiency of Board proceedings generally.


And just to put some meat on the bones of that, in terms of, if applicants and intervenors aren't able to prepare their case within a zone of privacy, they will be unable to ask questions that they should be asking without fear that the very asking of the question or the response will then itself become a line of inquiry.  "Should we frame this as a two-year test period" then becomes "well, we better not ask that question because we're going to have to produce every document that considers every alternative".  In my submission, that is an inefficient Board process.  You have an application before you, and the Board will make a decision as to whether or not that produces just and reasonable rates for the test period.


Now, I should say my friend has provided you with a copy of the CANDAS case.  Let me say this about the CANDAS case.  The Board's comments with respect to litigation privilege were entirely obiter in that case.  You'll see the comment can be found at page 14 of the decision.


The Board's findings are brief because it was obiter. What the Board determined in that decision was that the materials were subject to litigation privilege because there was a court proceeding that was apprehended at that time, and therefore there wasn't a second privilege that needed to be found.


And so in my submission, strictly speaking, the Board's findings were obiter dicta, and so nothing turned on the question of whether the proceeding before the Board was litigation that could create a zone of litigation privilege.


Even if the Board did find in CANDAS that litigation privilege did not obtain, in my submission, it would be limited only to that proceeding.  I question the correctness of it, but it would be nevertheless limited to that proceeding.


That was a proceeding for declaratory relief in relation to pole attachments.  It was not a cost-of-service proceeding in which the relationship between the parties was directly adversarial, as I've described the section 78.1 case.


And third, in my submission, to the extent the Board based its decision on a determination that the proceeding did not amount to litigation as contemplated by litigation privilege, in my submission, that was based on a misreading of two cases principally relied on in that proceeding.  The first is Ed Miller, and the second is the College of Physicians of British Columbia, which I've provided.


And I'll just touch on those briefly.  First of all, there is no explanation in the Board's findings.  And I don't mean that by way of criticism.  Given that it was obiter, I wouldn't have expected a discussion of those cases, but they're referred to.


So let's -- let's take them.  There is a submission that -- by CCC earlier in the decision that refers to the Ed Miller case.  And it's important to understand the Ed Miller case, because the Ed Miller case is interesting in a couple of respects.  The first is that Ed Miller was a case where the court determined that litigation privilege did apply.  So it's not a situation of litigation privilege not applying.  And this is a decision from the Federal Court of Appeal back in 1988.


The real issue in Ed Miller was the issue in really four grounds, the Supreme Court of Canada's decision in Blank, because the real issue in Ed Miller was whether or not the earlier combines investigation, precursor to the Competition Tribunal's investigation, and it was purely an investigation, was a related proceeding and whether litigation privilege continued into a subsequent civil proceeding, and the court determined that it did.


Now, what's interesting about Ed Miller is, if you go to page 4 of the decision, the court says about the investigation that was then being undertaken pursuant to the Combines Investigation Act, the court says:

"I would consider that litigation was anticipated and indeed was then in progress."


Because it was certainly in the contemplation at that time that the proceeding could result in an application by the now-Commissioner of Competition for certain relief as against the respondent.  That is a clear-cut case of when litigation privilege would apply; no question about it, in my submission.


In CANDAS, CCC appears to have suggested that litigation privilege could only obtain in administrative proceedings where the result could be a fine against the applicant.  I don't disagree that that is a case where litigation privilege would apply, but it's a misreading of Ed Miller, in my submission, to conclude that that is the only case in which litigation privilege could apply.  And the case says no such thing, in my submission.  It's a very clear case, but it's not the only case.


The second decision that's interesting in the College of Physicians and Surgeons case, and that is a decision of the BC Court of Appeal from 2002.


And what's interesting there is, first, it was not a claim for privilege by either the respondent to a proceeding before the College, nor was it a complaint -- a claim for litigation privilege by the complainant.  It was a claim for litigation privilege that was made by the College itself in response to the BC equivalent of the Freedom of Information and Personal Privacy Act.  So it was the board -- the College that was asserting the claim for litigation privilege.


And the claim for litigation privilege did not arise at the contested proceeding in front of the College stage.  It was at the purely investigative stage.  So College proceedings, as you may be aware, there will be an investigation, there will be a decision that's made about whether to proceed, and then there's a subsequent enforcement proceeding.  It had not got there at all.  It was purely at the investigative stage.


And what does the court say about litigation privilege that's relevant?  Take you first to paragraph 73 -- sorry, yes, first to paragraph 73, and this is just framing the issue.


The question in this case is whether the investigation by the College's lawyer of the applicant's complaint was litigation either in process -- in prospect or in progress.  And what happened is the complainant was dissatisfied with the College's decision not to prosecute.  So the complainant is the applicant.  The question is whether the investigation by the College's lawyer of the applicant's complaint was litigation either in prospect or in progress, and then it goes on to -- the College relies on Ed Miller in another case called Bank Leu, which I have a great deal of familiarity with, being counsel on the case.


It then refers at paragraph 74, further discussing both Ed Miller and Bank Leu, and in both cases one of the issues arose was the length to which -- or the extent to which litigation privilege can continue.


Paragraph 79 is important, in my submission.  It's on the next page.  I do not disagree that the interest of the member being investigated is adversarial to that of the College and the complainant.  That is the ratio of Ed Miller Sales and Rentals and Bank Leu AG, which I accept, and that is important for this respect.  That is entirely consistent with my earlier submission that the interests of OPG compared to the consumers, on the other hand, is directly adversarial at this stage.


And the reason the court goes on to find that litigation privilege did not apply was that -- because the College itself was not in an adversarial relationship at the investigative stage.


So two problems with the applicability of this case.


First, we're not in an investigative stage; we're in a contested proceeding.


And second, it's not a claim for litigation privilege about materials in the Board's hands; it's a claim for litigation privilege in OPG's hands, as against production to the consumers on the other hand.


So in my submission, when you closely look at these cases, they do not stand for the broad proposition that litigation before this Board is not litigation as contemplated by litigation privilege, and they certainly do not stand for the prospect that they don't apply in a rates proceeding.  And I don't -- there may be other proceedings before the Board and they would have to be analyzed on their own merits.


So in my submission, litigation privilege does cover the material sought by SEC 20.  And pursuant to the Statutory Powers Procedure Act -- I believe it's section 15(2) -- the Board cannot make an order compelling OPG to make production.  In my submission, you needn't decide this issue, although I forcibly advance OPG's position with respect to litigation privilege, if you simply follow the 008 decision, in which these very same materials were found not to be relevant.


Let me turn to the last, and it may then be appropriate to take a break.  SEC 4.  SEC 4 --


MS. LONG:  I'm sorry, Mr. Smith, were you going to comment on Northwestern Utilities?  Or does it just stand for the general proposition that this is with respect to a utility?


MR. SMITH:  The only reason I provided you with Northwestern Utilities -- and I did it for completeness, not because you wouldn't know this in the very fibre of your beings, but that is the case that sets out what makes up just and reasonable rates.


And I do think it's important that you go back to what makes up just and reasonable rates, because what represents just and reasonable rates is what frames the fact that this is indeed a contest between the utility and the ratepayers, because that is exactly what underpins rates which are just and reasonable.


That's the only reason I provided you with Northwestern.  I'm sure you know it, but I just provided it.


MS. LONG:  I wanted to make sure I wasn't missing something --


MR. SMITH:  No, no.


MS. LONG:  -- that you wanted to point us to.


MR. SMITH:  SEC 4, so this is the request for materials.  Now, it's important to understand what is being sought here.


The OPG Memorandum of Agreement with its shareholder provides that OPG will ensure timely reports and information on major developments and issues that may materially impact the business of OPG or the interests of the shareholder.  So it is directed at keeping each other up to date about major developments.


As OPG indicates in its factum at paragraphs 32 through to 35, the primary method by which OPG keeps the shareholder apprised is through its formal business planning process.  Those are the 2013 to 2015 business plan, which underpins this application and which was provided to the shareholder, and which is filed in this proceeding and which no doubt will be tested at some great length.


Also provided was the 2014 to 2016 business plan -- although I regret providing the '16 information, but the 2014 to 2016 business plan, which is also going to be the subject, no doubt, of some considerable examination.


OPG reports -- this will surprise nobody -- regularly across a variety of different levels in the organization to members of the Ministry.  That's by telephone call, that's by e-mail, that's by formal report.  These reports cover a broad range of issues: the weather, production, financial information, and anything else.


In my submission, it will be a considerable undertaking for OPG to sort out in those various types of reports which could be said to be a report touching on a major issue that is also relevant to test-period payment amounts, because it's not just, of course, for relevance purposes the fact that it's a major development.  It has to be a major development that actually relates to payment amounts in 2014 and 2015.


And so in my submission, having regard to the breadth of material that's already been provided, the formal business plans that have been provided, what probative value there is is outweighed by the exercise of having to try and sort out the wheat from the chaff.


So those are my submissions in relation to the SEC and AMPCO motions, subject to any questions.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Okay.  Thank you.  We will take a break then, and when we come back we'll hear reply submissions from Mr. Crocker and Mr. Rubenstein.  Thank you.


--- Recess at 11:31 a.m.

--- On resuming at 12:05 p.m.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Crocker, would you like to make reply submissions?
Reply Submissions by Mr. Crocker:

MR. CROCKER:  Thank you, Madam Chair.


I'm not going to repeat anything I said in my submissions-in-chief, and therefore only have two comments that Mr. Smith made to which I would like to reply.


The first one was that the request that AMPCO made in Interrogatory No. 5 was extremely broad and unfocused, I think is what he said.


And in reply I can say it was purposely broad, but I dispute the fact that it was unfocused.  What we were looking for, and what I think OPG understood that we were looking for, was for OPG to provide a discussion of emerging issues and proposed spending levels that followed the information typically provided in its business plan presentation to its board of directors, such as key planning assumptions, OM&A expenses, capital expenses, financial outlook, risks and uncertainties.


That's what we were looking for, and I don't think it was unclear that that's what we were looking for.


The second comment I would like to make is in reply to Mr. Smith's suggestion that no issue was taken with any specific capital project.  In my submission, that's not the point of what we are looking for in either of the two interrogatories.


We were looking for a broad -- our perspective was broader than that, and we were looking for a context into which to put, for instance, those capital projects.  And depending on what the context shows, we may in fact have issues with respect to specific capital projects, but it's taking the cart before the horse to say we don't have any objection to specific projects without knowing the context.  The context may provide us with enough information to have some issues with specific projects.


Those are the submissions I would like to make. 


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  Mr. Rubenstein?
Reply Submissions by Mr. Rubenstein:


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Thank you very much.


I adopt those reply submissions and I'll just add one more thing that Mr. Smith said.  He said, when I was discussing the context of the RRFE, sort of it discusses pacing and things such as that.


I don't dispute that clearly it's not directly applicable to OPG.  But Mr. Smith also said that while it's different in that case because it's setting rates on multi-years.  With respect to the custom IR option, sure, but determining issues of pacing, it's applicable to a normal cost of service proceeding.


And while we're not in an IRM proceeding yet, much like in that case, it sets costs on that test year and then later on uses a different method to set for the years forward, but it's still the same sort of principle.


And with respect to this not being -- there is no IRM framework in place, I would hope that -- and it's the Board's intention, we've seen from the Board's report and even from the material that there will be a hydroelectric incentive to be developed.  I would hope that the proceeding to do that would not be a full-on rebasing proceeding for the hydroelectric.  My understanding is this would be that proceeding, so pacing is important to have an understanding.


With respect to the other interrogatories, I note with respect to SEC 116 and CCC 5, again, my friend, he relied on his factum, which essentially does not provide an actual basis for not providing it, I've –- you know, the rules provide it should show what's in possession, produce what's relevant in possession of the party, not who – ownership.


And with respect to the question that was asked to Mr. Smith about when it would be ready or not, I would say that's to some degree not really relevant, because regardless of the permission being granted or not, the information is still relevant and should still be provided.


So I don't think that is a controlling factor, and second, I mean, my friends have had -- they originally took that position in the interrogatory response which was filed a month and a half ago.  Things may actually move slower now, considering the position the government is in since it's an election.  I think this is clearly critical information that should be provided before the settlement conference.


With respect to CME No. 1, I won't repeat my submissions, but all I will say is the information about its response to the auditor general's report, it's not a question, as Mr. Smith said, about:  Did they like the response, or not?  But it's providing the actions that they could or could not have taken, the options, the feasibility that could be used, it's important for the purpose of cross-examination, because clearly it will be a central focus in the oral hearing, is compensation costs, as it has been in the past.  And the Auditor General has made some very specific findings and OPG has, you know, in response -- in its materials that it's provided in response to the IRs has also said that they're taking it seriously and taking actions.  This furthers that, and I think it is clearly relevant.


With respect to SEC 25, no one disputes that the Board sets rates based on -- essentially it deems a debt or equity structure.  But the question is what happens now since the inclusion of these newly hydro -- facilities that are now becoming regulated that are not previously.


Now, Ms. McShane in the Foster Associates report provides its analysis on the business risk.  And that will be subject to further exploration at the hearing, or potentially, but I would say that one of the ways to measure the reasonableness of that report is to look:  What is actually -- OPG actually planning to do with respect to its equity structure?  Because if it is changing that structure, it's reasonable to assume that maybe the underlying assumptions that Ms. McShane states in her report may not actually be the case, or OPG at least doesn't itself agree with that analysis if it acts differently.


With respect to SEC 20, with respect to the relevance of it -- discussed at length about this -- I would say it's important to recognize that the material takes two parts.


One, I would say, would be sort of the approval of the application and all the elements that go to the risks of the application and all those sorts of elements.


And the second part is approving sort of the payment amounts, which takes into account budgeted amounts that the board of directors has looked at in the past and the forecast amounts and comes to a number, but the reasonableness of that overall should be explored.  And we would think, we would hope, that that information would go to that.


And I would say compared to the other proceeding, I would note that most of the other proceeding, that litigation privilege was essentially the debate before the Board and that, and not much on relevance, but I would say there's -- the increase is much more significant, as I said in my argument-in-chief, from a 6.2 percent increase in the last proceeding to anywhere from -- at the lowest point, 20 percent, depending on how you calculate it, with which riders and whatnot, up to what's been, in the media as well as from the application, just under 30 percent.


I think that adds a different -- I would also say the context of sort of change since that proceeding, with the Board not just looking at the component elements but also the overall payment amount aspect.  We think this helps to –-


With respect to litigation privilege, my friend took you through the material.  I would say again the Board doesn't need to make that decision, because we're not looking for any of the material that the litigation privilege is –- the zone of privacy my friend talked about and the cases talked about, we're not seeking information that that's trying to protect.  We're not seeking that information.


And I think where the Board was right in the CANDAS proceeding, saying that this was not litigation privilege, there is a discussion about:  Is this necessarily an adversarial position proceeding?


And my friend talked at length about that, but I would say the Board is in a different position than it was in the CANDAS proceeding, where it even said it didn't apply.  It's in a much less adversarial position here.  In that case, CANDAS, some people who wanted to attach wireless devices -- this is attachments to Toronto Hydro's poles, because Toronto Hydro refused to do that.


So it brought an application seeking the declaration essentially forcing Toronto Hydro to do that, or making a Board ruling making clear that they were required to do so by previous decisions.


That can -- outside of a compliance proceeding, I can't see any more Board proceeding that is more adversarial.  And in that case, the Board didn't agree that this was litigation for the purposes of litigation privilege.


 I would say this is less adversarial.  While OPG has to come forward and bring forward its case, and while intervenors who represent different consumer groups provide their viewpoints on the application, on the reasonableness, ultimately the Board can choose neither position and has its own way of acting.  It has to act in the public interest, taking into account its statutory objectives that can be divorced from the position of those parties.  It's not your usual -- or it's not, you know, in civil litigation context, where there is sort of a winner and a loser and it's necessarily a zero sum case.


And last, with respect to the question I was asked about the dominant purpose aspect of that, I will say this.  Litigation privilege general -- is an exception to the general rule, and the purpose of the dominant purpose aspect of that test is to sort of further limit the scope of litigation privilege.  It's not that the document was produced or information was produced for a substantial purpose of litigation, but it's the dominant purpose.


And we would say that because we're not seeking any of the information which is -- which would be covered generally, the purposes of litigation privilege, then the dominant purpose test really -- the point of that branch of that test really has no basis.


And last, with respect to SEC No. 4, I would say this.  If the issue ends up being, as Mr. Smith talked about, it's essentially a proportionality or availability issue, that someone needs to search through all the times that we've communicated, that's a different objection than the one that they're making on the issue of relevance.  We would say it is relevant, because it goes to instructions that it's receiving, even if it's -- I would say it's formalized because it's under the rules set out at the MOU, but sort of informal, as it's not a formalized directive.  We think that's important communications.


But if the issue is a proportionality aspect, I would say then it should be -- OPG should be required to, and it does so in other places, and other utilities have provided, I would say, answers that provide what the gist of the question it's seeking to understand, so if OPG provides a summary over, you know, what would be included generally in those last five reports or those sorts of informations, that would be fine in that respect.


If there are no further questions, those are my reply submissions.


MS. HARE:  Just so I understand the very last thing you said, so instead of filing all the memos, correspondence with the Ministry, what you're suggesting is, if they would file a summary of the type of discussions that they've had, you'd be satisfied?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Well, if the issue is, as my friend seemed to allude to, that it's simply a proportionality question, that would seem to be a reasonable way to sort of -- the gist of the question would happen without sort of an undue amount of work being required by OPG.


MS. HARE:  Just one last chance to explain.  Why is the correspondence between OPG and the Ministry of relevance to the application that they're making?


MR. RUBENSTEIN:  The instructions or things that the shareholder believes is material to OPG and OPG believes is material goes to -- allows us to have a better understanding of what was included in the application, what material aspects were included in the application, and what should have been in the application.  It allows us to test what OPG states in its application is material by allowing us to have sort of a better sense to test that credibility of those assumptions in the application.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


Thank you.  So we'll now turn to Mr. Elson and Environmental Defence motion.  And just to let you know, we do plan to break at 1:00 for lunch.  How long do you think you'll be?


MR. ELSON:  I think it would be a bit of a struggle to finish before 1:00, so I expect that we'll have to continue after lunch.


MS. HARE:  That's fine.  And you will let us know if we have to go in camera.


MR. ELSON:  Yes, of course.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.

Submissions by Mr. Elson:


MR. ELSON:  I'll be referring today in part to our motion record, which I believe you should have on the dais in front of you, and I would ask that that be marked as an exhibit.

MR. MILLAR:  KM1.7.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.7:  ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE COMPENDIUM.


MR. ELSON:  And while we're at it, we will also be referring later on to a supplementary motion record, which is an unbound set of 20 pages, and perhaps we could mark that as an exhibit as well.

MR. MILLAR:  KM1.8.

EXHIBIT NO. KM1.8:  SUPPLEMENTARY MOTION RECORD.


MR. ELSON:  I will be roughly going through the order of the interrogatories as set out in the materials, starting with the interrogatories that relate to the rate base for newly regulated hydroelectric facilities.  That's Interrogatories 4.7.ED.2, 3, and 4.


By way of background to these interrogatories, it appears to Environmental Defence that the rate base proposed for newly regulated hydroelectric facilities potentially results in what we would characterize as windfall income.  And that is because the assets had been assessed at a fair market value, as opposed to a cost value.


It appears to us that this calculation of rate base would be inconsistent with what would normally be done in rates proceedings, in that it's not a historic cost minus depreciation.


As an indication of this -- these assets, the newly regulated hydroelectric facilities are often very old, and the original capital costs should have been paid off by now.  So what we are seeing is numbers that are higher than we would expect them to be in the rate base.


Now, at the moment this is, I guess I could call it a hypothesis, and part of the purpose of these IRs is to determine if this hypothesis is correct.  Another reason for these IRs is to determine the magnitude of the gap between the rate base as calculated according to OPG's methodology and what could be called a more normal methodology for assessing the value of OPG's assets.


Now, OPG doesn't want to put that information on the public record, and OPG argues that that information is not relevant.  And OPG relies on Regulation 53/05.  Regulation 53/05 requires that the Board accept certain values of OPG's assets as determined in their financial statements.


Environmental Defence acknowledges that Regulation 53/05 does require the Board to accept those values, and Environmental Defence of course accepts that that regulation is binding on the Board and on this proceeding.


Our submission is that this information, the information requested in these interrogatories, is relevant despite Regulation 53/05.  And there's two ways that we argue that the information is relevant.  The first reason is, for the sake of transparency and public accountability, we submit that this information should be available to the public.


If there is to be a dispute or if there is to be a departure from the Board's standard procedure for determining a rate base, then in our submission the public is entitled to know that this is occurring.  It is entitled to know what the impact on rate base will be and the impact on rates will be.


In particular, we would submit that the public is entitled to know if Ontario Power Generation will be awarded windfall income in comparison to what would be awarded if a more typical rate base methodology was followed.


The second way in which this is potentially relevant is that the magnitude of the gap could be relevant for other issues that are actually within the Board's jurisdiction.  Now, we understand that Regulation 53/05 requires the Board to accept certain values as set out in the financial statements, but it does not mandate, for example, a specific rate of return.


Environmental Defence submits that the existence of a significant gap between the cost and the fair market values for assets would justify a lower rate of return.


Investors and the Board must know the value of this gap to assess that argument and to determine what rate of return is fair to customers in the circumstances.  I'm not asking, of course, the Board to accept that position today.  In our submission, it would be premature to rule on that issue today.  We're simply seeking information that could be used to make that argument or arguments along those lines.


So that rationale, those reasons for seeking this information about the underlying calculations for the rate base for the newly regulated hydroelectric facilities, is consistent with Regulation 53/05, and it's consistent with the Board's procedural order relating to the issues list.  We're not trying to suggest that the Board would make an order that's inconsistent with Regulation 53/05.


So in our submission, for those reasons the information is relevant.  And in particular, OPG hasn't established any reason why it can't provide the information or why it isn't relevant.


So moving on to Interrogatory 4.7.ED.7, this interrogatory requests the annual capacity factor before 2005.  So the issue is whether OPG should be required to provide this historic annual capacity factor data.


Again, the annual capacity factor is, of course, the amount of power produced or roughly speaking is the amount of power produced as a percentage of the plant capacity.


The relevance of the numbers that Environmental Defence are seeking is very simple.  OPG has calculated the LUEC assuming an 88 percent capacity factor.  And very simply, Environmental Defence wishes to test whether that's a reasonable assumption and see whether that 88 percent is consistent with the historic capacity factor across the life of Darlington.


OPG argues that they don't need to provide that information because they're not required by the guidelines to provide earlier historic information.


In our submission, the scope of IRs is not limited to what is required by the guidelines.  What the guidelines require and what we are allowed to ask under IRs are two different questions.


Perhaps their most fundamental submission, at least in my belief, is that this data is useless.  We would strenuously disagree with that.


Of course, it depends on what the historic data actually says.  If the historic data says that the annual capacity factor has been 70 percent over the life of the plant and OPG is assuming 88 percent, then in our submission that would be relevant for calculating the LUEC.


The Board has, in fact, ordered this kind of information before, which suggests that it is indeed relevant and could be useful in proceedings such as this.


If I could refer the Board to our Supplementary Motion Record; at page 11 of the Supplementary Motion Record, at page 11 there is a decision and order on motion in EB-2007-0050.  This is the Hydro One Bruce-to-Milton proceeding.


And if you turn to page 4 of that decision, which is page 14 of the Motion Record, there's a discussion of a motion similar to this, an interrogatory motion that was brought by Pollution Probe.  And Pollution Probe was seeking the same kind of historical information that is being sought in this proceeding.  In fact, actually much more historical information was being sought, but part of that was the annual capacity factor.  I've underlined some portions on page 4 of the decision.


And you can see that Hydro One objected to providing this information on two grounds.


One is that it argued that the historical information occurred in a period that predates Hydro One's existence.  I believe the same objection has been made in this proceeding, that some of this data relates to prior to the conception of Ontario Power Generation.  But of course, it was just under its predecessor corporation.


And the second ground is that it's not relevant because it relates to the distant past.


However, flipping over the next page on page 5, the Board did find that historical information would assist the Board, and that included, again, the average capacity factor from 1984 to 2002.


So this is just one of the reasons why, in our submission, this information is relevant.  It has been ordered in a past Board proceeding.


But specific to this proceeding, which is probably the most important factor, is the LUEC calculations that have been done and Environmental Defence's desire to test the underlying numbers. 


Before moving on, I'll add just one other point, which is that this is not onerous data to provide.  I can't imagine that it would be any more than looking it up and providing an interrogatory response to us.  We're looking for one percentage number for each year of this plant's operation.  So just because the data is older, in our submission, also doesn't mean it's irrelevant.


I'm moving on.  I'll address Interrogatories 4.7.ED.8 and 9, along with Interrogatory 6.3.ED.15(c), and that's following along the structure of the submissions of OPG.


Before moving on, if the Board has any questions I would be happy to ask them as they arise. 


MS. HARE:  I think we're fine.  Thank you. 


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


These three interrogatories ask questions relating to a comparison of Darlington and Pickering to generation alternatives.


In our submission, this information is potentially relevant information as it's one of the possible factors that the Board can consider in setting payment amounts for this proceeding.


Now, we agree and we acknowledged that the Board is not being asked to decide today or in this proceeding on the future of Darlington, nor is it being asked to decide whether or not Pickering should continue to operate.  And we're not making those submissions here.


The submissions that we are making are in relation to the amount -- the payment amounts, which is squarely what the Board is deciding in this proceeding.


So the Board is being asked whether the costs that are going to be passed on to the consumers are just and reasonable.  And in our submission, the Board has a wide discretion in assessing whether those costs are reasonable and in deciding what factors it will and will not consider.


Again, the comparison with other generation alternatives is a possible factor.  Of course, it's not the only factor.


For example, the Board may decide to give this application extra scrutiny if it believes that the costs per megawatt-hour are far higher than it would be for alternatives such as imports of electricity from Quebec, or from conservation, or from natural gas-fired power plants.


Similarly, there may be reason to disallow certain costs or to lower the rate of return if it turns out that these projects are highly uneconomic in comparison to alternatives.


I would like to briefly refer to paragraph 47 of OPG's submissions.  It's not necessary that you turn it up, but if you'd like, it's on page 12 of OPG's submissions.


OPG says that the consideration -- and I'm reading the last sentence of paragraph 47:

"The consideration of the appropriateness of the supply mix is not before the Board in the current proceeding, and as such, inquiries as to the economics of other generation or energy use alternatives relative to the DRP are not relevant."


In our submission, the second clause does not flow from the first clause.  Simply because in OPG's submission the appropriateness of the supply mix isn't being -- isn't being addressed in this proceeding, or in other words, the Board isn't being asked to rewrite the Long-Term Energy Plan, from that, it doesn't follow that an analysis of the cost-effectiveness of Darlington and Pickering in comparison to alternatives is irrelevant.


On paragraph -- further down on paragraph 49, OPG notes that it's not within its power to perform the calculations requested.


Our only response to that would be that it provide its best-efforts answers to the question and advise the parties what it has done with respect to this kind of calculation if it has or hasn't done it, and to provide a best-efforts response.


The Board in payment-amounts proceedings have in the past looked at this kind of benchmarking.  One example is in EB-2007-0905.  This is discussed in our submissions of March 31st on the prioritization of issues, so I won't get into it in any detail except to note that a number of intervenors -- and this was particularly in relation to Pickering -- put forward evidence such as that the average cost of Pickering was double the hourly Ontario energy price, and through that comparison with benchmarks and a number of other factors the Board decided to disallow 10 percent of Pickering's OM&A costs.  So this is -- these are the kinds of factors which can be considered.


The Board is required to, of course, fix payment amounts that are just and reasonable.  The Board is the protector of the interests of the ratepayers, as Mr. Smith pointed out this morning.  These interrogatories are relevant to that core role, and the question is, are these projects cost-effective versus alternatives.  If not, the Board may wish to say to OPG that it must do a better job at keeping these costs down, and the Board may wish to disallow a portion of these costs.


Of course, this isn't the only factor, but it is one factor to determine if the payment amounts are just and reasonable, and therefore, in our submission, these interrogatories are relevant and we ask that they be answered.


I would like to move on to Interrogatory 4.12.ED.14.  These interrogatories relate to the possibility of cost overruns.  And if I could ask the Board to refer to tab 8 of our motion record, page 17 of the motion record.  What appears at page 17 of the motion record is an appendix that was attached to the interrogatory.  And this is the subject of this contested interrogatory.


This appendix was produced by the Ontario Clean Air Alliance Research Inc., and it hasn't been submitted for the truth of its contents.  It was submitted as a method of asking questions in an efficient and effective manner.


I'll go through briefly what is in this appendix.  It is a listing of the original cost estimates and then the final cost of all of the nuclear projects in Ontario.  It notes that every nuclear project in Ontario's history has gone over budget.


It includes some of the earlier projects, including Darlington itself.  It notes in the bullet -- the second-last bullet on the left-hand side, that in 1997 Ontario Hydro estimated that Darlington would cost 3.2 billion, but the actual cost was 4.5 times higher, at $14.3 billion.


At the top of 17 on the right-hand side it discusses that in 1999 OPG estimated that the total cost of returning the shut down Pickering A unit 1 to service would be 213 million, and the actual cost was 4.8 times higher, at approximately 1 billion.


And if you look, for example, at the bullet that I just referred you to at the top right-hand corner of page 17, there's footnotes for all of the data in this appendix, so that refers to footnote 55 and 56.


And if you turn over to page 20 you'll see that footnote 55 refers to report of the Pickering A review panel.  56 refers to an OPG -- an OPG document.  57 also refers to an OPG news release.


So this information is largely information culled from public sources and, in particular, from OPG's own documents.


The final thing that the document notes is that the average cost overrun -- and this is the table in the bottom right-hand corner -- the average cost overrun is 150 percent.


OPG argues that this information isn't relevant, and that appears on page 13 of OPG's submissions.  And I'll read out the sentence to you, because it surprised me:

"OPG argues that, quote..."


This is the second sentence on page 13, paragraph 51 of OPG's submissions:

"Past projects carried out by OPG or its predecessor Ontario Hydro and any variation of actual versus forecast are not relevant."


So OPG's argument is that a history of massive cost overruns, including Darlington itself being what would appear to be, although it hasn't been confirmed by OPG yet, 4.5 times over the original estimate, they say that those numbers aren't relevant.

I find this very troubling.  I can't imagine how OPG's history of massive cost overruns in nuclear projects wouldn't be relevant in this proceeding.  Very simply, it sets OPG's track record.


OPG also disputes this interrogatory on technical grounds on page 52, arguing that the interrogatory should have referred to part of the prefiled evidence.  This interrogatory relates to the contracting strategies in the prefiled evidence.  It doesn't specifically say so on the interrogatory itself.  In the reference portion it refers to the appendix produced by the Ontario Clean Air Alliance Research Inc., but the issue raised, in my submission, in paragraph 52 is a mere technicality.  I don't think anyone would argue or not understand what this relates to in the prefiled evidence, which is, in essence, OPG's evidence relating to its contracting strategies and how it's going to avoid cost overruns.


Thirdly, OPG argues in paragraph 53 that this is an improper way to put in a document that is not in evidence.  However, this interrogatory is asking questions to OPG.  It is not putting in this document for the truth of its contents.


And if I could refer you back to the interrogatory itself, that's very, very clear from the wording of the interrogatory.  The interrogatory asks:

"Does OPG dispute the accuracy of any of the facts provided in the appendix?  If yes, please state the facts that OPG disputes and provide OPG's opinion as to the correct values."


So if OPG believes that the cost overrun at Darlington wasn't 4.5 times, then we're asking that it provide what it believes the correct numbers are.  So in essence, the question is asking OPG to provide a summary of the cost overruns of nuclear projects in Ontario as a way to set its track record before the Board in this proceeding.


If the Board decides not to require OPG to put a summary of past cost overruns in the evidence in this proceeding or doesn't order OPG to answer our interrogatory, we would ask in the alternative for leave to file evidence on that topic.


However, we do not believe that that is an efficient way for the Board to proceed.  We believe it's a waste of resources to require an expert report to establish basic figures that are largely within OPG's own control and knowledge.


In our submission, the information we have requested is relevant.  The question is properly posed and it should be answered.


There are three other issues to address that arise from the undertaking responses that we received yesterday, so I will move on to those now, and that's the purpose of the Supplementary Motion Record.


Starting with Interrogatory 6.3.ED15(a) and (b), we had addressed 6.3.ED15(c) earlier, because (c) relates to a comparison of generation alternatives.  So we're returning to this interrogatory again; the reason for that is that there was an undertaking to provide a better response to part (a) and (b) of this interrogatory, and a better response or a complete response to the interrogatory has not yet been provided.


This interrogatory is seeking, in a sense, very simple numbers.  It's seeking the OM&A costs of Pickering in dollars per megawatt-hours.  It's seeking the actuals from 2010 to 2013, and it's seeking the forecast numbers for 2014 to 2015.  In essence, all this question is asking is:  How much does it cost to run Pickering, not including the original capital costs?  It's asking for Pickering's average costs.


There are a couple of problems with the original response.  First, it excluded fuel costs.  Secondly, it excluded some administration costs.  And thirdly, it seems to understate some of the costs relating to Pickering.


And if I could ask the Board to turn to page 5 of our Supplementary Motion Record, this document is a table prepared by Environmental Defence's consultant, attempting to calculate the OM&A costs of Pickering and coming up with a number of approximately 72 cents per megawatt-hour.  The numbers provided by OPG were approximately 58 cents per megawatt-hour, so we asked in this letter -- which became part of an undertaking -- for an explanation of whether OPG agrees with these numbers or not, and to explain why and why not and to provide the correct numbers.  And the reason for that was to address what appeared to be an understatement of Pickering's costs.


So those are the three deficient aspects of this undertaking.  One was the -- it didn't include the fuel cost, it didn't include some of the administration costs, and it seemed to understate some of the costs.


Part of the issue I'm gleaning from OPG's response, although I have not heard their submissions on this topic, is an issue of how to allocate costs between Darlington and Pickering.


However, in our submission, OPG should simply pick a reasonable methodology and do so, rather than exclude costs that they don't typically don't allocate between the two different plants.  It would be sufficient for our purposes for OPG to provide an undertaking response that indicates what methodology was used to allocate the costs between Pickering and Darlington, and to justify that and to provide the underlying numbers so that we can then assess what they provided to us.


OPG noted it disagreed with Mr. Gibbons's calculations which divided the costs as according to megawatt-hour output.


But if OPG wishes to use a different methodology, that is, of course, fine.  We asked a question, and it is entitled to state its assumptions and provide an answer.


So what we are seeking is, A, a completed response to the interrogatory that includes all of the costs, the fuel costs, the admin costs, and also a response to JT1.14, which is that table that appears on page 5.  We're asking whether OPG agrees with the numbers in the table, and if it doesn't, to provide the correct numbers.  And that's so we can assess whether there has been an understatement of Pickering's costs.


I guess I'm speaking faster than I expected, because it looks like I probably can be finished by 1:00 today.


There is one small issue, which is issue 4.7.ED5.  I don't even think it's necessary to turn it up.


Environmental Defence requested the cost of the DRP in 2004 dollars -- sorry, 2014 dollars, and that wasn't provided.  It was provided in a nominal figure, and we are simply asking that it be provided in 2014 dollars.


I don't believe there will be a dispute on that, but perhaps Mr. Smith could speak to that in his responding submissions.


Our last issue to address is a very important one, the confidential responses, so perhaps the Board could go in camera or break now, whichever would be more convenient.


MS. HARE:  Let's go in camera.


--- On commencing in camera at 12:52 p.m.
Page 81, line 24 to page 86 line 22 have been redacted.

Page 81, line 24 to page 86 line 22 have been redacted.


--- Resuming public session at 1:02 p.m.


MS. HARE:  Okay.  So not to have you repeat, Mr. Rubenstein, what you said, you basically were asking whether there would be another opportunity to put in submissions on confidentiality on the new material.

MR. RUBENSTEIN:  Yeah, the undertaking responses. 

MS. HARE:  And Mr. Smith said he agreed with that.

MR. SMITH:  I do, to the Board, and Procedural Order No. 8 asked for us to provide information in relation to materials for which we had previously sought confidentiality.

MS. HARE:  Right.

MR. SMITH:  And our factum addresses that.  I do think just as a matter of process there are or may be other people who are interested in OPG's more recent claims of confidentiality, and I don't think that we should deal with it on an ad hoc basis today.

MS. HARE:  Today.  Right.  Right.  Okay.

Mr. Elson?

MR. ELSON:  I would add that confidentiality was raised in our notice of motion, but I wouldn't object to the parties being afforded the opportunity to provide additional submissions on the confidentiality that has been applied to the more recently submitted undertaking responses, but the reason that we are raising it today is it was raised in our notice of motion.

MS. HARE:  Yes, thank you.  When we come back from the lunch break we'll maybe have a little schedule to outline as to what the dates would be, okay?  Thank you.  So we'll break now until 2:15.

--- Luncheon recess at 1:04 p.m.


--- On resuming at 2:28 p.m.


MS. HARE:  All right.  Now we're ready.  Mr. Smith, you have reply?
Reply Submissions by Mr. Smith:

MR. SMITH:  Yes.  Thank you, Members of the Board.


Just by way of brief housekeeping, I don't think – since everyone else is, I ought to as well.  I don't think I marked our responding factum as a –-


MS. HARE:  I think you're right.  Mr. Millar, which... 


MR. MILLAR:  KM1.9.
EXHIBIT NO. KM1.9:  Applicant's Responding factum

MR. SMITH:  And I did, over the break, pull up a copy, an excerpt of the Board's Report on the Cost of Capital, which I would like to have marked as well, if I could. 


MR. MILLAR:  KM1.10. 
EXHIBIT No. KM1.10:  EXCERPT FROM THE BOARD'S REPORT ON THE COST OF CAPITAL.


MR. ELSON:  Could we have a copy of that?  I'm not sure what you're referring to. 


MS. HARE:  Do we have that?  Thank you. 


MR. SMITH:  So what I propose to do, Members of the Board, is take the questions in the same order in which my friend dealt with them in his submissions.  So that would begin with Environmental Defence No. 2, 3 and 4.


And these are interrogatories dealing with the rate base for the newly regulated hydroelectric facilities, and the discussion of this issue is set out in our factum at paragraphs 39 and 40, which is at pages 9 and 10.


I should say by way of opening remark that there is nothing in Regulation 53/05, as amended, which provides for a revaluation of the hydroelectric facilities.  In other words, the amount recorded on OPG's financial statements did not change as a result of the introduction of the regulation.  And my friend may be under a misapprehension, because I took a number of his comments to be that something had changed in that respect, and of course nothing has changed.  So let's dive into the submissions.


In my submission, the request for historic information with respect to the value of the facilities is completely answered by Regulation 53/05, and in my submission the Board has already dealt with the question.


That regulation requires that the Board accept the values as reflected in OPG's financial statements.  It is, in that respect, no different than Regulation 53/05 previously provided with respect to OPG's other prescribed facilities.  And as the Board will know, the Board was required to accept the value set out at OPG's financial statements at the time of its first order dealing with the nuclear generation assets and the other hydroelectric, previously regulated hydroelectric assets.


Now, this came up at the time of the issues preceding and is dealt with in Procedural Order No. 3, and we've set out the quote from the Board at paragraph 40.


But SEC had proposed a question which would have got directly at the appropriateness of the rate base calculation, and this Board, in my submission, appropriately referred to the regulation and decided not, or rejected the proposed submission.


There is no other way around that, and my friend's submissions fail to provide any other justification.  So let's take the two of them.


The first is public transparency.  OPG's financial statements are publicly available on SEDAR.  Anyone can look them up for whatever reason they may want to look them up.  But asking for further information simply so that they're somewhere else in the public record is not a proper basis for determining relevance.  That submission fails on that ground.


The second is that it could be relevant, as my friend said, it could be relevant to other issues.  The regulation does not mandate a specific rate of return.  And in my submission, that is nothing more than a back-door attempt to try and undermine Regulation 53/05, which is clearly --requires the acceptance of the value of the assets.


It's also, in my submission, entirely inconsistent with any financial theory or the Board's -- or the fair return standard.  And I heard my friend to say:  Well, you don't need to make a decision on that; you don't need to close off that argument at this stage.


But in my submission, if an argument cannot possibly succeed because it's legally impermissible, OPG shouldn't have to produce information in response to it and then further have to argue it down the road.


And what I say by that -- and it's the reason I produced the report of the Board, but there is no legal way under the fair return standard to cut OPG's rate of return on the basis of a legislative choice relating to the value of particular assets. 


And I provided you the copy, just to set out the fair return standard and the elements of the fair return standard, but in a nutshell, they are essentially to provide for opportunity costs.


And this is not an analysis of that that my friend is proposing.  He is simply saying the government should have made a different decision with respect to the value of OPG's assets.


And I should also say that if the Board were to accede to this submission, it really cuts both ways, because of course in 1999 there were no -- in 1999 on de-merger, assets were revalued at fair market value.  That includes both at the hydro level and the nuclear level.  The nuclear rate base is far beyond what it's actually set out in hydro's -- in OPG's financial statements.  And every utility across the province, essentially, on de-merger, did the same thing and revalued.  And the Board, to my knowledge, has never adjusted a rate of return on that basis.


So in my submission, Regulation 53/05 is a complete answer to this request by my friends.


Let's turn to the annual capacity factor, which is Environmental Defence 7.  That is paragraph 41 of our factum through to paragraph 43.


Now, OPG had originally provided the unit capability factor for the years 2005 to 2013, because the unit capability factor is the industry-recognized measurement.  Net capacity factor, as set out in paragraph 42, includes events not under station management control; that is, loss of transmission and measuring energy generation.  But in the interest of moving things along, we have set out in our factum the net capacity factor from 2005 -- which is the time when OPG became subject to rate regulation -- through to 2013.


Now, my friend says in his submission that the Darlington refurbishment business case refers to a LUEC over the life of the refurbished assets of 88 percent.  And as a result, he would like to know the net capacity factor for the existing Darlington, going back historically.


And I will confess that there is some superficial attraction to that submission, subject to this:  What is the use of that information in this proceeding?


This is a payment amounts proceeding.  It is not a proceeding to determine whether or not Darlington should be refurbished, which is the only use to which that information could be used.


To determine to say Darlington is not a good business proposition, we don't accept that.  But that's the only use to which that information could be used.  And given that this Board is not tasked with revisiting supply-mix choices made by the OPA, that is not a relevant line of inquiry.


And so my friend does not need the information, because he cannot make the submission at the end of the day that Darlington ought not to be refurbished and, in my submission, for the same reason the Bruce-to-Milton decision that my friend took you to is also of no relevance.


That was a leave-to-construct application where the Board is directly engaged in the economics of a particular project and whether or not it's in the public interest.  The Board is not being tasked in this case with that same line of inquiry, and therefore the case has no application.


Paragraphs 47 through to 49 of our factum deal under the heading of "generation alternatives".  And it is perhaps worthwhile to turn up one of the interrogatories to get a flavour for them.  And you can find it at my friend's motion record behind tab 6, which is -- well, tab 7, for example, page 15.  It's page 15.  And it asks for an estimate of the incremental cost per megawatt hour of a variety of different generation mix alternatives.


So increased use of Ontario's existing generating facilities broken out into gas-fired and renewable generation, none of which operated by OPG, increased water-power imports from Quebec, which would of course be the subject of a government agreement, and new combined heat and power plants and increased energy efficiency.


This is, in my submission, again an attempt to persuade the Board to engage in revisiting the LTEP, which is, of course, a role for the Ministry of Energy and the OPA.


Now, my friend in his submissions, obviously concerned about this, said that they are not asking -- or they understand that you are not being asked about the merits of Darlington and Pickering, and that this information is not to be used to question those choices.


But of course it is, because, as my friend went on to say, the information could be used to, amongst other things, deny costs or decrease the rate of return.  That is nothing more than a suggestion that if there are other alternatives that are less expensive than water imports or wind turbines or something else that OPG isn't engaged in, OPG's costs should be cut and OPG's rate of return should be cut, which, in my submission, would be a remarkable proposition.  Not only would it invite you to reconsider supply mix choices, but it would punish OPG financially for supply mix choices it's not making.


So I don't see how this inquiry can lead to anywhere fruitful.  And in my submission, it will lead ultimately into error.


Now, that's not to say -- and my friend referred to the 2007-0905 case -- that cost comparisons to other businesses that OPG is engaged in are not relevant.  And so this Board has relied in other instances, 2000 and -- the 0905 and the 008 case -- on benchmarking information, benchmarking to hydroelectric and benchmarking to nuclear, to make a determination of whether or not costs that OPG is incurring in relation to those activities, it is doing so prudently.


And that is a relevant line of inquiry.  If somebody else is building a nuclear power plant for less money than we are, presumably that matters.  But whether it costs less to generate electricity through a different supply choice is not a relevant line of inquiry in a payment-amounts case.


I should say my friend to the extent this is a line of inquiry that he would like to pursue is, given what's happening provincially, is going to have every opportunity to exercise their right through the ballot box, which, in my submission, is really what this is all about.  These are political choices that are being made, and they shouldn't be being carried out at the Ontario Energy Board.


And frankly, as we say in our factum, OPG is incredibly ill-equipped to do this, and this is information that a system planner has to have, and it's not satisfactory, in my submission, to try -- first of all, it's irrelevant, but it would be completely dissatisfactory to say make a variety of assumptions and do the best you can, because that's not the way in which a system should be planned, and it's also not a proper basis to allow or disallow costs.


That brings us to the historic nuclear projects, which is Environmental Defence 14.  And I think it's worth turning this up as well.  The interrogatory can be found at page 16 of my friend's motion record.


And let me summarize our objection this way.  First, this is, in my submission, an improper attempt to ask OPG to create evidence where a party should be required to put forward the evidence which could then be tested by OPG to the extent it wanted to test the evidence.


It is also, in my submission, of almost no actual probative value, and we say that in our factum, and I don't need to repeat that.  But this isn't a simple request of asking OPG to confirm numbers which are in its application, which happens with a good deal of regularity, as the Board will know.  It's quite common for intervenors to prepare a table for use in cross-examination and say, Here's where the information comes from from your application or answers to interrogatories.  I've provided the relevant cites.  Can you confirm that I've got it right?

I accept that that is something that happens with some degree of regularity before the Board, and we're not proposing to object on that basis.  But this is of an entirely different category.


Appendix A, by my count -- and I did it quickly -- has at least 28 separate footnotes, some of which relate to old Ontario Hydro information, others of which do not.  It simply comes from articles or other sources, presumably, that my friend has pulled from or somebody has pulled from.


To answer this interrogatory, what my friend is asking OPG to do is go back in historical records, figure out whether the information has been put fairly or not; if not fairly, to fully describe what OPG's position might be in relation to it.


In relation to footnotes that are not related to old Ontario Hydro information, to go in, read the article, check the article, check the footnotes to that article, and then get back to my friend.


If my friend wants to lead this sort of evidence, then by all means seek leave, put somebody in the witness box.  We'll ask interrogatories maybe about it.  We might cross-examine.  But in my submission, this sort of make-work project is not -- should not be our responsibility.


MS. HARE:  But Mr. Smith, this would not be the first time that during an oral hearing counsel comes forward with a document that's a public document, which this is, and puts it to the Panel and says, What do you think?  How is this different?


MR. SMITH:  It's different in two ways.  First, it's different in degree, because this isn't a proposition of putting one or two numbers where people can check it easily.  This is -- although it's not long in numbers of pages, this is a fairly big amount of work to have to go back and check not just our information, but go to the library, find the articles, check the articles, check the footnotes to the articles, to see if it's right.


In my submission, if this were happening at a hearing I would be objecting just as forcibly as I'm objecting now.  That's the first objection to it.


And the second objection to it is the interrogatory goes on to say not just:  Do you agree or disagree?  Because that is -- in a contested proceeding, it happens all the time in cross-examination.  I've done it in trials.  You put a document to the witness and you say:  Do you agree with this?  And if the witness says no, it's not up to me to go off and say:  Oh, well, I would like to you explain to me all of the ways in which the document is wrong, and go out and do the work for me.  I have to live with the answer, unless I want to call other evidence.


And that's the failing here.  This isn't just:  Do you accept the numbers, where OPG witnesses could say:  Yes, we do, or:  No, we don't.  This is:  Go off, and if you don't agree with the numbers, tell us specifically why and what the numbers ought to be in every instance.  And in my submission, that goes beyond what should be required, particularly where my friend does have the opportunity to call his own evidence.


And frankly, I don't understand the submission that this is somehow less work for us to check their work than it is for them to call the person who did the work.  That can't be right.  It just can't be right.


Those are my submissions in relation to the interrogatories.


Let me just touch briefly on the answers to undertakings, and I think I can do this without going in camera.  I don't propose to deal with any of the numbers.


I must confess I did not fully understand my friend's submission in relation to the interrogatories, at least in this respect.  My friend asked first about or raised the issue of Environmental Defence No. 15.  And as I understood the objection, the answer that he was concerned about, the undertaking -- or the interrogatory answer, did not break out fuel cost and did not provide an explanation about cost allocation.  The answer to undertaking -- because my friend followed up on this -- which is JT1.14, deals with both of those issues.


One, it provides the fuel cost per megawatt-hours, so I don't understand the objection there.


And, two, it does explain the cost allocation methodology that OPG used, which is the Board-approved cost allocation methodology.  I heard my friend today to say, essentially, just pick a different cost allocation methodology, and in my submission that isn't OPG's job.  OPG has a Board-approved cost allocation methodology.  It has explained the numbers in the interrogatory and it has explained his evidence.


My friend's real complaint is he would prefer that we agreed with the proposition that had been put to OPG, which we don't agree with and which we've explained why we don't agree with, and to the extent my friend wants to make something of that in argument or wants to further cross-examine on it, I think he can do that, but I don't think it's fair to say that the responses at this stage are not complete or responsive to the inquiries, because in my submission they are.


The next undertaking, as I understood it, was -- I would like to get the number.  It was the request to put the Darlington refurbishment costs in in-year dollars, so  -- sorry, not in in-year dollars; in 2013 and 2014 dollars.


OPG has presented the financial information in in-year dollars, so if an expense is being occurred in 2017 it's 2017, presumed to be 2017 dollars.  What I understand my friend to be asking us to do is to restate all of that financial information and put it in 2013 dollars and to do it again and to put it in 2014 dollars.


And in my submission, I don't understand why we should be made to do that.  An explanation hasn't been offered for why the presentation of the information is in some way dissatisfactory or can't be used for whatever purpose my friend wants to put it.  And absent a compelling explanation for that, I don't know why we would be ordered to do it.


Finally, was Undertaking JT -- it's Undertaking JT2.1, for the record.


And then finally, the comments with respect to JT2.2.  This is another area where, in my friend's submission, he said:  I don't understand the answer.  I don't understand that submission to be a complaint about the adequacy of the answer to the undertaking, with respect.


The proposition was put that if the costs were overrun by 50 percent, then the cost should be what they are, plus 50 percent.  The answer to the undertaking explains why that isn't so.  And my friend is free to explore that at a later date if he so chooses, but that's not to say that the answer is in any way deficient.  It just is what it is.


And we'll have, I'm sure, a full and vigorous debate about it at some point in the not too distant future.


So those are my submissions, subject to any questions that the Board may have.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.  No questions.


Mr. Elson, if you could proceed, please, with your reply?


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  Could I ask the Board's indulgence for two minutes to look over my notes?


MS. HARE:  Absolutely.


MR. ELSON:  I don't even need a break, if I could just sit for two minutes to --


MS. HARE:  We'll take a five-minute break.

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  

--- Recess taken at 2:55 p.m.

--- On resuming at 3:01 p.m.


MS. HARE:  Mr. Elson, please proceed.
Reply Submissions by Mr. Elson:

MR. ELSON:  Thank you.  I will be brief, and I will not repeat the submissions that I made earlier this morning.  I will start with Environmental Defence 2, 3, and 4, which Mr. Smith addressed.  And his first comment was that the information was already public and therefore needn't be put on the record again.


Not all the information is public, first of all.  Some of what Environmental Defence has asked for is a comparison between the fair-market-value approach and the cost approach in calculating the rate base.  That information is not on the public record.


Secondly, the financial statements that Mr. Smith refers to, I've looked at them before.  And it's not clear to me, let alone a person from the public, exactly how you would pull out of those financial statements the kind of asset values that are being used in this process.


So in my submission, there is no transparency just by referring to the financial statements that are online currently.


Secondly and, I think in my submission, more importantly is the question of the rate of return and whether, you know, in Mr. Smith's words, you know, our arguments in that respect can possibly succeed.


I believe Mr. Smith is asking the Board to decide on an important and complicated issue now at a preliminary hearing rather than addressing that issue where it should be addressed, which is at the full hearing after a hearing of all the evidence and the arguments of all the parties.


And that's a procedural response, but also substantively, in my submission, his arguments are both procedurally and substantively misguided.  Mr. Smith said that there is no legal way to cut the rate of the return.  That argument is in essence saying that the Board has no jurisdiction to consider lowering the rate of return or otherwise addressing what would be a gap between the normal rate-base methodology and what's being used in this proceeding.  That's a very significant statement, to say that the Board doesn't have the jurisdiction to even consider doing such a thing, and in my submission it's incorrect.


Regardless, we believe that's a matter that should be addressed at the hearing of this matter on a full review of the evidence, which is why we are seeking information through these interrogatories.


In terms of the annual capacity factor, my friend argues that the LUEC is not relevant in these proceedings.  However, the LUEC is -- it's already on the record.  It's a number that's been put forward by OPG, and now that it is on the record we would argue that we should have the right to assess whether it's accurate or not.


But more so, I don't see how they can say that the LUEC is irrelevant.  What Mr. Smith has done is set up what is in essence a straw-man argument, saying that we are arguing for something that we specifically have said numerous times we are not arguing for.


Mr. Smith implied that we were making submissions that Darlington can't be refurbished and that that's our position in this case, and I believe I was clear about that this morning.  That's simply a straw-man argument, when in fact what we are arguing is the LUEC and other information that we are seeking is -- goes to whether these projects are good value for money, which is relevant for this payment-amounts application.


That ties into our questions relating to generation alternatives, and again a straw-man argument was set up saying that we are asking the Board to make political choices, and again we were clear this morning, we were clear in our submissions, that that is not what we are doing.


My friend noted EB-2007-0905 and noted the benchmarking used in 2000-0905 (sic), and argued that benchmarking vis-a-vis other nuclear projects is relevant.  But benchmarking versus other generation alternatives is irrelevant.


However, in EB-2007-0905 there was a wide-ranging discussion of benchmarks which was not limited only to a comparison with other nuclear projects.  There was also a comparison done, for example, to the hourly Ontario energy price, which is of course a number which includes non-nuclear generation.


We're not arguing that this is the only factor that the Board should be considering.  We're just submitting that it is one of the factors that the Board should be considering.


With respect to ED 14, which is our interrogatory asking about cost overruns, OPG argues that this is an onerous task, that this would take a large amount of work, appears to be the concern being expressed.  And in my submission, what we're asking for is OPG's track record, and it is not unreasonable for the Board and for the parties to ask OPG to tell it how it has done before in the past, both how OPG has done and how Ontario Hydro has done as its predecessor corporation.


In our submission, that is something that would be squarely within something an applicant should be expected to put forward to justify its application in a case such as this, and again, of course the applicant has the burden in this case, not the intervenors.


Again, as I mentioned this morning, if this question isn't ordered answered we would seek leave to put this evidence in.  However, in my submission, and as I said this morning, the information is information of OPG and from Ontario Hydro, and it makes a lot more sense to me that OPG puts forward its best evidence on what the cost overruns have been in the past, as opposed to an intervenor or an expert reviewing OPG documents and then expressing their opinion about OPG cost overruns in the past.


Although it may be a fair amount of work to assess the numbers that have been provided in this interrogatory, I don't believe it's unreasonable to ask OPG to present to the Board its past track record on nuclear projects.  That's just a basic and foundational piece of information, in my submission.


In relation to the undertakings, the first undertaking related to ED's Interrogatory No. 15.  And Mr. Smith didn't fully understand what our concerns were.  There were three concerns.  One was not including fuel cost, one was an issue with cost allocation -- sorry, two, and the third was what seemed to be an understating of the numbers.


In terms of cost allocation, Mr. Smith said that the undertaking responses actually addressed that.  And if you refer to the actual response itself, which is at page 7 of the supplementary motion record, the way that OPG has addressed that is by saying it didn't include it in its numbers and explained why it didn't include it in its numbers, and that's not what we were asking for.  We were asking for the average cost of the project.


In my submission, OPG hasn't answered the question by simply explaining that it has not allocated certain costs to Pickering or Darlington.  And that's the -- there is an underlying portion of the Undertaking JT1.14 on page 7 of our supplementary motion record.


But Mr. Smith also didn't address what may be a more fundamental issue, which is to somehow reconcile the numbers that we came up with based on the evidence on the record -- and I shouldn't say we; I should say the consultant for Environmental Defence -- which appears on page 5 of the supplementary motion record, and somehow explaining why these numbers are incorrect, if they are incorrect, in providing OPG's own version for them.


So those are the issues with Environmental Defence number 15.


In terms of ED 05, this is the interrogatory that requested the cost of Darlington in 2004 -- sorry, 2014 dollars.

My understanding from the consultant for Environmental Defence is that it's helpful to have those numbers in 2014 dollars for comparison purposes.  I can't provide any more details than that, but it doesn't seem to me like it would be a difficult calculation to do, and it would be better for OPG to do a calculation to put this number in 2014 dollars than for us, as an intervenor, to attempt do the calculations and have to confirm with OPG that they agree with the calculations that we have done.


In some ways it's a small point, but my understanding of the reason for it is to compare those numbers to other numbers.


And lastly in relation to JT2.2, Mr. Smith correctly points out that I did say I don't understand the answer, which probably wasn't the best way for me to phrase my concern with that interrogatory response.  A better way to phrase that is that they haven't done what we requested them to do.


So when we were talking about the discrepancies in the numbers, those discrepancies show that the response doesn't address the question.


I have no further submissions, subject to questions from the Board.


MS. HARE:  No questions.  Thank you very much.


MR. ELSON:  Thank you.


MS. HARE:  Yes, Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  There was one final matter, which was the Board's request for further information.


MS. HARE:  Yes.  We haven't forgotten.


MR. SMITH:  No, no.  I was quite confident that you would not have.


[Laughter]


MS. HARE:  So there were two interrogatories and now there's one, because as you have indicated, IESO has agreed to have one on the public record.


So what we didn't quite understand is 176, with the contract that goes to the year 2021, why that would be confidential.


MR. SMITH:  And I don't know that I have much to add beyond what's set out at paragraphs 57 and 58, but in substance, the answer is this.


There will come a time when OPG has to negotiate these contracts again, and any wise supplier, in order to make sure that they maximize revenues from other purchasers beyond OPG, will make sure that OPG pays as much as possible, because the information will become publicly available and other buyers will look at that and cry foul.


So there is that commercial concern, which is that ratepayers will ultimately be harmed because the supplier will have a financial motivation to make sure the price is as high as possible.


And there's a related concern, which is that other bidders, once the information is available, may not put their best foot forward, but will put the worst foot minus one dollar forward, knowing that the motivation for the incumbent supplier will be to charge the maximum amount.


So in my submission, in the long run, interest for OPG and ratepayers is to keep costs as low as possible, and the best way to do that is to keep the information confidential.


MS. HARE:  Thank you.


There are four procedural matters --


MR. SMITH:  Sorry, I should have said I don't mean confidential as in nobody sees it; I mean confidential subject to the Board's Rules as to confidentiality.


MS. HARE:  Right.


There are four procedural matters that I would like to address.


First, there was a question asked just before the lunch break about submissions on confidentiality of matters that were filed yesterday.  The Board will issue a procedural order next week outlining the dates for submissions on those materials.


Second, the Panel expects to be able to issue a decision on the motions heard today next week.


Third, we did go in camera for a short period, and as per the Practice Direction on Confidential Filing, section 6.2, OPG will propose within five days what should be redacted from the public record.  Parties will then have an opportunity to comment on those redactions.


The fourth matter concerns the issues in prioritization into primary and secondary issues.  Although we still have to hear from OPG on May the 12, the Panel thought it would be helpful to parties if we indicated today a subset of 14 issues which the panel has not only deemed primary, but wants examined at an oral hearing.


In other words, of the 58 issues on the issues list, we are removing 14 issues from settlement discussions.  Our purpose in advising parties of this decision at this time is to focus the parties' time for preparation and attendance at the settlement conference on the remaining issues.


So of the remaining 44 issues, they will be deemed primary and secondary by the Panel after May 12th, after receiving OPG's response.


Of these remaining 44 issues, if the parties do not settle the primary issues at the settlement conference that begins on May the 21st, they will be heard at an oral hearing.


If the parties do not settle the secondary issues, submissions will be made in writing.


Now, I will now go through the 14 issues that we are removing from settlement discussions.


The first is 1.4:


"Is the overall increase in 2014 and 2015 revenue requirement reasonable, given the overall bill impact on customers?"


Next is 4.7:

"Are the proposed nuclear capital expenditures and/or financial commitments reasonable?"


4.11:

"Are the commercial and contracting strategy used in the Darlington refurbishment project reasonable?"


6.1:

"Is the test period operations, maintenance and administration budget for the regulated hydroelectric facilities appropriate?"


6.2:

"Is the benchmarking methodology reasonable?  Are the benchmarking results and targets flowing from those results for the regulated hydroelectric facilities reasonable?"


6.3:

"Is the test period operations, maintenance and administration budget for the nuclear facilities appropriate?"


6.4:

"Is the benchmarking methodology reasonable?  Are the benchmarking results and targets flowing from those results for the nuclear facilities reasonable?"


6.8, 6.9, 6.10, all dealing with corporate costs, I'll just read those.


6.8:

"Are the 2014 and 2015 human resource-related costs, wages, salaries, benefits, incentive payments, FTE, and pension costs appropriate?"


6.9:

"Are the corporate costs allocated to the regulated hydroelectric and nuclear businesses appropriate?"


6.10:

"Are the centrally held costs allocated to the regulated hydroelectric business and nuclear business appropriate?"


9.6:

"Is OPG's proposal to not clear deferral and variance account balances in this proceeding other than the four accounts directed for clearance in EB-2012-002 appropriate?"


11.1:

"Has OPG responded appropriately to Board direction on establishing incentive regulation?"


11.3:

"To what extent, if any, should OPG implement mitigation of any rate increases determined by the Board?  If mitigation should be implemented, what is the appropriate mechanism that should be used?"


And 12.1:

"Are the effective dates for new payment amounts and riders appropriate?"


So the ADR will commence on May 21st, and we've scheduled five days.  There still are 44 issues.  We hope that parties work diligently and cooperatively to try to settle those issues, or as many as possible.  Otherwise, we will, as I mentioned, put them in the two categories of those going to oral hearing, those going to written.


But the ones that I mentioned, the 14, we've already determined we want to hear cross-examination and further evidence on those.  Mr. Smith?


MR. SMITH:  I just wanted to raise another issue that -- and I apologize if I've missed this.  It has been my experience recently that the Board has asked the parties to prepare in the settlement conference a hearing plan.


MS. HARE:  Yes.


MR. SMITH:  And I just thought I might raise that if that were something else that the Board were inclined to do.  I found that they're helpful, and that might be something that we could work away at --


MS. HARE:  We very definitely will want to see a hearing plan, keeping in mind we've set aside 12 days for the hearing, and so we want to make sure that we are setting the appropriate time for the issues that we think are the most important.


MR. SMITH:  Yes, no, no, no.  Absolutely.


MS. HARE:  But we also don't think that can be done until after the settlement discussions, because, I mean, at this point you don't know what goes to hearing or not besides the 14 that I just outlined.


MR. SMITH:  No, I just, I agree with that.  It's just, we'll all be together, and there will be downtime, and we'll get a sense of what's going to go to hearing and what's going to take time, and at least my experience has been there is a benefit of just trying to get it done at the settlement conference, at least getting a first cut of it done because we're all there.


MS. HARE:  Well, that's fine and very appropriate, and as I said, we will want to see that.  We will want to have time estimates so that we, you know, can keep things moving and try to stay within the 12 days.


MR. SMITH:  No, no, I'm fully on board.


MS. HARE:  Any other questions?  Thank you very much.

MR. SMITH:  Thank you.


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 3:23 p.m.
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